Mathematische Zeitschrift



On the Maxwell and Friedrichs/Poincaré constants in ND

Dirk Pauly¹

Received: 18 June 2017 / Accepted: 19 November 2018 / Published online: 29 January 2019 © Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2019

Abstract

We prove that for bounded and convex domains in arbitrary dimensions, the Maxwell constants are bounded from below and above by Friedrichs' and Poincaré's constants, respectively. Especially, the second positive Maxwell eigenvalues in ND are bounded from below by the square root of the second Neumann-Laplace eigenvalue.

Keywords Maxwell's equations · Maxwell constant · Second Maxwell eigenvalue · Electro statics · Magneto statics · Poincaré inequality · Friedrichs inequality · Poincaré constant · Friedrichs constant

Mathematics Subject Classification $35A23 \cdot 35Q61 \cdot 35E10 \cdot 35F15 \cdot 35R45 \cdot 46E40 \cdot 53A45$

Contents

1 Introduction	98
1.1 Maxwell's equations	58
1.2 The Maxwell constants	59
2 Preliminaries	54
2.1 Functional Analysis Toolbox	54
2.2 Applications to differential forms	58
3 Main results	72
3.1 Some remarks	76
Appendix A: Proof of Lemma 3.2	77
Appendix B: Calculations for Remark 3.12	79
B.1. Classical vector analysis	32
Appendix C: Proof of (3.3) in the Bi-Lipschitz case	34
C.1. Without boundary conditions	34
C.2. With boundary conditions	36
References	36

Fakultät für Mathematik, Universität Duisburg-Essen, Campus Essen, Essen, Germany



[☐] Dirk Pauly dirk.pauly@uni-due.de

1 Introduction

1.1 Maxwell's equations

Maxwell's equations are fundamental in physics and play an important role for mathematical physics itself. In a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ (open and connected set) with boundary Γ these famous equations read for the pair of the electric and magnetic field (E, H)

$$\operatorname{curl} E + \partial_t \mu H = G, \qquad -\operatorname{curl} H + \partial_t \epsilon E = F \qquad \text{in } (0, T) \times \Omega,$$
$$\operatorname{div} \epsilon E = f, \qquad \operatorname{div} \mu H = g \qquad \text{in } (0, T) \times \Omega,$$
$$n \times E = 0, \qquad n \cdot \mu H = 0 \qquad \text{at } (0, T) \times \Gamma,$$

where we have already eliminated the fields D and B by the constitutive laws $D = \epsilon E$ and $B = \mu H$, respectively. Moreover, physically meaningful is F = -j as current density and G = 0 as well as $f = \rho$ as charge density and g = 0. Furthermore, initial conditions have to be imposed on E(0) and H(0) in Ω . Note that in the non-stationary case the two divergence equations are redundant by the two curl-equations and the complex property div rot = 0. Moreover, the second normal boundary condition for μH is already given by the first tangential boundary condition for E and the first curl-equation as E and E implies E out E at E out E at E out E at E out E at E out E

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{curl} E + i\omega\mu H &= G, & -\operatorname{curl} H + i\omega\epsilon E &= F & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \operatorname{div} \epsilon E &= f, & \operatorname{div} \mu H &= g & \text{in } \Omega, \\ n \times E &= 0, & n \cdot \mu H &= 0 & \text{at } \Gamma, \end{aligned}$$

where the divergence equations and the second boundary condition are still redundant. Finally, the electro-magnto static equations are given by

$$\operatorname{curl} E = G,$$
 $\operatorname{curl} H = -F$ $\operatorname{in} \Omega,$ $\operatorname{div} \epsilon E = f,$ $\operatorname{div} \mu H = g$ $\operatorname{in} \Omega,$ $n \times E = 0,$ $n \cdot \mu H = 0$ at Γ

and we emphasize that here the divergence equations and the boundary condition for H are no longer redundant as the systems completely decouples into two separate systems, the electro static equations for the electric field E and the magneto static equations for magnetic field H.

Proper solution theories in the sense of Hadamard, i.e., unique and continuous solvability, are well known, see e.g. [12]. In the static and time-harmonic situations the essential tool is the so-called Maxwell estimate (setting H = E and $\mu = \epsilon$)

$$|E|_{\mathsf{L}_{\epsilon}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq c_{\mathsf{m},\epsilon} \left(|\operatorname{curl} E|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\operatorname{div} \epsilon E|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \right),$$

see (1.2) and (1.7), being valid for all $E \in L^2(\Omega)$ with curl $E \in L^2(\Omega)$ and div $\epsilon E \in L^2(\Omega)$ as well as either $n \times E|_{\Gamma} = 0$ or $n \cdot \epsilon E|_{\Gamma} = 0$ such that E is perpendicular to the possible kernels $\mathcal{H}_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega)$ or $\mathcal{H}_{N,\epsilon}(\Omega)$, respectively, the so-called Dirichlet or Neumann fields. Of course, all terms have to be understood in a weak way which we define below in a suitable Sobolev setting. Obviously, the best constant $c_{m,\epsilon}$ resp. $(1 + c_{m,\epsilon}^2)^{1/2}$ is the norm of the respective bounded inverse, mapping the right hand sides to the solution E (resp. H).



A more general situation can be considered if we assume Ω to be a Riemannan manifold of dimension N. In particular Ω may be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^N or some N-dimensional surface in \mathbb{R}^M . Then Maxwell's equations can be expressed independently of special coordinates by the calculus of differential forms using the exterior derivative d and co-derivative $\delta = \pm *\delta*$ as well as the Hodge star operator *. Focusing on the static equations we have for a q-from ξ and a (q+1)-form ζ

$$d\zeta = \phi,$$
 in $\Omega,$ $\delta \epsilon \zeta = \theta,$ in $\Omega,$ $\iota^* \zeta = 0,$ on $\Gamma,$

where ι is the canonical embedding of the boundary manifold Γ into $\overline{\Omega}$ and ι^* its pull-back. For N=3, q=1 and the vector proxy $E=\zeta$ we get back the classical electro static formulation of vector analysis from above. For N=3, q=2 and the vector proxy $\mu H=\zeta$ (setting $\epsilon=\mu^{-1}$) we get back the classical magneto static formulation. Here, the crucial tool for a proper solution theory is the so-called generalized Maxwell estimate

$$|\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}^2 \le c_{\mathsf{m},\epsilon} (|\mathsf{d}\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 + |\delta\epsilon\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2),$$

see (1.15), being valid for all $\zeta \in L^2(\Omega)$ with d $\zeta \in L^2(\Omega)$ and div $\epsilon \zeta \in L^2(\Omega)$ such that the related boundary and kernel conditions hold in a suitable weak Sobolev sense.

1.2 The Maxwell constants

Let $\Omega\subset\mathbb{R}^3$ be a bounded weak Lipschitz domain, see [3, Defintion 2.3] for an exact definition. We denote the standard Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces by $L^2(\Omega)$, $H^1(\Omega)$, which might be scalar-, vector-, or tensor-valued, and by $H(\text{curl},\Omega)$, $H(\text{div},\Omega)$ the respective Sobolebv spaces for the rotation curl and the divergence div. Moreover, we introduce homogeneous scalar, tangential, and normal boundary conditions in the spaces $\mathring{H}^1(\Omega)$, $\mathring{H}(\text{curl},\Omega)$, $\mathring{H}(\text{div},\Omega)$, respectively, which are defined as closures of $\mathring{C}^\infty(\Omega)$ -functions, vector, or tensor fields under the corresponding graph norms. Moreover, let $\epsilon:\Omega\to\mathbb{R}^{3\times3}$ be a symmetric, $L^\infty(\Omega)$ -bounded, and uniformly positive definite matrix field.

It is well known that the tangential version of Weck's selection theorem, stating that the embedding

$$\mathring{\mathsf{H}}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathsf{H}(\operatorname{div},\Omega) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{L}^2(\Omega) \tag{1.1}$$

is compact, see [3,24,26,30–32], is the crucial tool of any analysis for static or time-harmonic Maxwell equations. Especially, (1.1) implies by a standard indirect argument the following important Maxwell estimate for tangential boundary conditions: There exists a constant $c_{m,t,\epsilon} > 0$ such that for all $E \in \mathring{H}(\operatorname{curl}, \Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} H(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega)^{\perp_{L^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}}$

$$|E|_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \le c_{\mathsf{m,t},\epsilon} \left(|\operatorname{curl} E|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 + |\operatorname{div} \epsilon E|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 \right)^{1/2} \tag{1.2}$$

holds, where the kernel space of (harmonic) Dirichlet fields is denoted by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{D},\epsilon}(\Omega) := \big\{ E \in \mathring{\mathsf{H}}(\mathsf{curl},\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathsf{H}(\mathsf{div},\Omega) \, : \, \mathsf{curl} \, E = 0, \, \mathsf{div} \, \epsilon E = 0 \big\}.$$

Note that $\mathcal{H}_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega)$ is finite dimensional by (1.1) as its unit ball is compact. We also introduce the weighted ϵ -L²(Ω)-scalar product $\langle \cdot , \cdot \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} := \langle \epsilon \cdot , \cdot \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}$ and the corresponding



induced weighted ϵ -L²(Ω)-norm $|\cdot|_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}:=\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}^{1/2}=|\epsilon^{1/2}\cdot|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}.$ If we equip L²(Ω) with this weighted scalar product we write L²(Ω). Moreover, $\bot_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}$ denotes orthogonality with respect to the ϵ -L²(Ω)-scalar product. If ϵ equals the identity id, it will be skipped in our notations, e.g., we write $\bot_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}$ and $\mathcal{H}_D(\Omega)=\mathcal{H}_{D,id}(\Omega).$

The fact that a compact embedding implies by an indirect argument a corresponding Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimate, is a well known and powerful concept. Prominent examples are the Friedrichs and Poincaré estimates itself, i.e.,

$$\exists c_{\mathsf{f}} > 0 \qquad \forall u \in \mathring{\mathsf{H}}^{1}(\Omega) \qquad |u|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \le c_{\mathsf{f}} |\nabla u|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}, \tag{1.3}$$

$$\exists c_{\mathsf{p}} > 0 \qquad \forall v \in \mathsf{H}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \mathbb{R}^{\perp_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}} \qquad |v|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathsf{p}} |\nabla v|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}, \tag{1.4}$$

which follow immediately using Rellich's selection theorem, i.e., the compactness of

$$\mathring{\mathsf{H}}^{1}(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{H}^{1}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega). \tag{1.5}$$

For the best possible constants it holds

$$c_{\mathsf{f}}^2 = \frac{1}{\lambda_1} < \frac{1}{\mu_2} = c_{\mathsf{p}}^2,$$

where

$$\lambda_1 = \min_{u \in \mathring{\mathsf{H}}^1(\Omega)} \frac{|\nabla u|^2_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}}{|u|^2_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}}, \qquad \mu_2 = \min_{v \in \mathsf{H}^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbb{R}^{\perp_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}}} \frac{|\nabla v|^2_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}}{|v|^2_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}}$$

is the first Dirichlet resp. second Neumann eigenvalue of the negative Laplacian, see, e.g., [4] and the literature cited there. Analogously to (1.1) and (1.2), the normal version of Weck's selection theorem, i.e., the compactness of the embedding

$$\mathsf{H}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathring{\mathsf{H}}(\operatorname{div},\Omega) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{L}^2(\Omega),$$
 (1.6)

shows the corresponding Maxwell estimate for normal boundary conditions: There exists a constant $c_{\mathsf{m,n},\epsilon} > 0$ such that for all $H \in \mathsf{H}(\mathsf{curl},\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathring{\mathsf{H}}(\mathsf{div},\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{N},\epsilon}(\Omega)^{\perp_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}}$

$$|H|_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \le c_{\mathsf{m,n,\epsilon}} \left(|\operatorname{curl} H|^2_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)} + |\operatorname{div} \epsilon H|^2_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)} \right)^{1/2}, \tag{1.7}$$

where we define the finite dimensional kernel space of (harmonic) Neumann fields by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{N},\epsilon}(\Omega) := \big\{ H \in \mathsf{H}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathring{\mathsf{H}}(\operatorname{div},\Omega) \ : \ \operatorname{curl} H = 0, \ \operatorname{div} \epsilon H = 0 \big\}.$$

Similarly to the Friedrichs and Poincare constants we always assume the best constants, i.e.,

$$\frac{1}{c_{\mathsf{m,t,\epsilon}}^2} = \min_{E} \frac{|\operatorname{curl} E|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 + |\operatorname{div} \epsilon E|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2}{|E|_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}^2}, \quad \frac{1}{c_{\mathsf{m,n,\epsilon}}^2} = \min_{H} \frac{|\operatorname{curl} H|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 + |\operatorname{div} \epsilon H|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2}{|H|_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}^2},$$

where the first minimum is taken over $E \in \mathring{\mathsf{H}}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathsf{H}(\operatorname{div},\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{D},\epsilon}(\Omega)^{\perp_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}}$ and the second over $H \in \mathsf{H}(\operatorname{curl},\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathring{\mathsf{H}}(\operatorname{div},\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{N},\epsilon}(\Omega)^{\perp_{\mathsf{L}^2_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}}$.

In [18–21] we have shown that for convex Ω and, provided that always the best possible constants are chosen, the estimates

$$\frac{c_{\mathsf{f}}}{\hat{\epsilon}^3} \le c_{\mathsf{m,t,\epsilon}}, c_{\mathsf{m,n,\epsilon}} \le c_{\mathsf{p}} \hat{\epsilon} \le \frac{\mathrm{diam}(\Omega)}{\pi} \hat{\epsilon} \tag{1.8}$$



hold, where

$$\hat{\epsilon} := \max\{\epsilon, \overline{\epsilon}\},\tag{1.9}$$

and the lower and upper bounds $\underline{\epsilon}, \overline{\epsilon} > 0$ for ϵ are defined by

$$\forall E \in \mathsf{L}^2(\Omega) \qquad \underline{\epsilon}^{-2} |E|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 \le \langle \epsilon E, E \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)} \le \overline{\epsilon}^2 |E|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2, \tag{1.10}$$

which exist by our assumptions. Note that convex domains are even strong Lipschitz, see, e.g., [7, Corollary 1.2.2.3] and topologically trivial, i.e., they satisfy $\mathcal{H}_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega) = \mathcal{H}_{N,\epsilon}(\Omega) = \{0\}$ as dim $\mathcal{H}_{N,\epsilon}(\Omega)$ resp. dim $\mathcal{H}_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega)$ is given by the first resp. second Betti number of Ω .

The aim of the paper at hand is to generalize and improve the estimates (1.8) for the Maxwell constants to convex domains $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$. In \mathbb{R}^N it is useful to work within the setting of alternating differential forms of general order $q \in \{0, \ldots, N\}$. More precisely, let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded weak Lipschitz domain, whose definition is easily modified from the 3D case, see again [3, Defintion 2.3]. We denote the standard Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces by $\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)$, and

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) &:= \mathsf{H}^q(\mathsf{d},\Omega) = \big\{ \omega \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega) \, : \, \mathsf{d} \, \omega \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega) \big\}, \\ \Delta^q(\Omega) &:= \mathsf{H}^q(\delta,\Omega) = \big\{ \omega \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega) \, : \, \delta \omega \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega) \big\}, \end{split}$$

where d is the exterior derivative, $\delta := (-1)^{(q-1)N} * d*$ the co-derivative, and * the Hodge-star-operator. Moreover, we introduce so-called homogeneous tangential and normal boundary conditions in the spaces

$$\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) = \mathring{\mathsf{H}}^q(\mathsf{d}, \Omega), \quad \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega) = \mathring{\mathsf{H}}^q(\delta, \Omega),$$

respectively, which are defined as before as closures of $\mathring{C}^{\infty,q}(\Omega)$ -forms under the corresponding graph norms. A vanishing derivative will always be indicated by an index zero at the lower right corner, e.g.,

$$\mathsf{D}^q_0(\Omega) := \big\{ \omega \in \mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) \, : \, \mathrm{d}\,\omega = 0 \big\}, \quad \mathring{\Delta}^q_0(\Omega) := \big\{ \omega \in \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega) \, : \, \delta\omega = 0 \big\}.$$

It holds

$$*D^{q}(\Omega) = \Delta^{N-q}(\Omega), \quad *\Delta^{q}(\Omega) = D^{N-q}(\Omega), \quad *\mathring{D}^{q}(\Omega) = \mathring{\Delta}^{N-q}(\Omega),$$
$$*\mathring{\Delta}^{q}(\Omega) = \mathring{D}^{N-q}(\Omega). \tag{1.11}$$

Inner products and hence norms are defined by

$$\begin{split} \langle \omega, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} &:= \int_{\Omega} \omega \wedge *\bar{\zeta}, & \omega, \zeta \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega), \\ \langle \omega, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega)} &:= \langle \omega, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} + \langle \mathsf{d} \, \omega, \mathsf{d} \, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}, & \omega, \zeta \in \mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega), \\ \langle \omega, \zeta \rangle_{\Delta^{q}(\Omega)} &:= \langle \omega, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} + \langle \delta \omega, \delta \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}, & \omega, \zeta \in \Delta^{q}(\Omega). \end{split}$$

We emphasize that for q-forms ω given in Cartesian coordinates (identity map/chart), i.e.,

$$\omega = \sum_{I} \omega_{I} \, \mathrm{d} \, x^{I}$$

with ordered multi-indices $I=(i_1,\ldots,i_q)$, we have $\omega\in\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)$ if and only if $\omega_I\in\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)$ for all I. The inner product for $\omega,\zeta\in\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)$ is given by

$$\langle \omega, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = \int_{\Omega} \omega \wedge *\bar{\zeta} = \sum_{I} \int_{\Omega} \omega_{I} \bar{\zeta}_{I} = \sum_{I} \langle \omega_{I}, \zeta_{I} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} = \langle \vec{\omega}, \vec{\zeta} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)},$$



where we introduce the vector proxy notation

$$\vec{\omega} = [\omega_I]_I \in \mathsf{L}^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N_q}), \qquad N_q := \binom{N}{q}.$$

The spaces $L_{\epsilon}^{2,q}(\Omega)$ with the inner products $\langle \, \cdot \, , \, \cdot \, \rangle_{L_{\epsilon}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = \langle \epsilon \, \cdot \, , \, \cdot \rangle_{L^{2,q}(\Omega)}$ are defined in the same way as for vector or tensor fields, where $\epsilon : L^{2,q}(\Omega) \to L^{2,q}(\Omega)$ is a symmetric, bounded, and uniformly positive definite transformation on q-forms. Such transformations will be called admissible. All other definitions and notations concerning ϵ carry over to q-forms as well, e.g., we have (1.10) and (1.9). More precisely, by the assumptions on ϵ we have

$$\exists \underline{\epsilon}, \overline{\epsilon} > 0 \quad \forall \omega \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega) \qquad \underline{\epsilon}^{-2} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2 \le \langle \epsilon \, \omega, \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \le \overline{\epsilon}^2 |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2 \tag{1.12}$$

and we note $|\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2 = \langle \epsilon \, \omega, \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = |\epsilon^{1/2} \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2$ as well as $|\epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = |\epsilon^{1/2} \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}$. Thus, for all $\omega \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)$

$$\underline{\epsilon}^{-1} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \le |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \le \overline{\epsilon} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}, \quad \underline{\epsilon}^{-1} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \le |\epsilon|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \le \overline{\epsilon} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}. \tag{1.13}$$

As in the vector-valued case we can also define the Sobolev spaces $\mathsf{H}^{1,q}(\Omega)$ resp. $\mathring{\mathsf{H}}^{1,q}(\Omega)$ component-wise by defining $\omega \in \mathsf{H}^{1,q}(\Omega)$ resp. $\omega \in \mathring{\mathsf{H}}^{1,q}(\Omega)$ if and only if $\omega_I \in \mathsf{H}^1(\Omega)$ resp. $\omega_I \in \mathring{\mathsf{H}}^1(\Omega)$ for all I. In these cases we have for $n = 1, \ldots, N$

$$\partial_n \omega = \sum_I \partial_n \omega_I \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I$$

and we utilize the vector proxy notation also for the gradient, i.e.,

$$\nabla \vec{\omega} = [\partial_n \omega_I]_{n,I} = [\dots \nabla \omega_I \dots]_I \in \mathsf{L}^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times N_q}).$$

Hence, for $\omega, \zeta \in H^{1,q}(\Omega)$

$$\begin{split} &\langle \omega, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{H}^{1,q}(\Omega)} \\ &:= \langle \omega, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \langle \partial_n \omega, \partial_n \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = \int_{\Omega} \omega \wedge *\bar{\zeta} + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} (\partial_n \omega) \wedge *(\partial_n \bar{\zeta}) \\ &= \sum_{I} \left(\int_{\Omega} \omega_I \bar{\zeta}_I + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} \partial_n \omega_I \partial_n \bar{\zeta}_I \right) = \sum_{I} \left(\langle \omega_I, \zeta_I \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)} + \langle \nabla \omega_I, \nabla \zeta_I \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)} \right) \\ &= \langle \vec{\omega}, \vec{\zeta} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)} + \langle \nabla \vec{\omega}, \nabla \vec{\zeta} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)} = \langle \vec{\omega}, \vec{\zeta} \rangle_{\mathsf{H}^1(\Omega)}. \end{split}$$

Note that

$$\mathsf{H}^1(\Omega) = \mathsf{H}^{1,0}(\Omega) = \mathsf{D}^0(\Omega) = \ast \, \Delta^N(\Omega), \quad \mathring{\mathsf{H}}^1(\Omega) = \mathring{\mathsf{H}}^{1,0}(\Omega) = \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^0(\Omega) = \ast \, \mathring{\Delta}^N(\Omega)$$

and

$$d\omega = \sum_{n} \partial_n \omega dx^n, \quad \omega \in H^1(\Omega).$$

Like before, Weck's selection theorem (tangential version), stating that the embedding

$$\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^{q}(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^{q}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega) \tag{1.14}$$



is compact, holds, see [31] for bounded strong Lipschitz domains (strong cone property) and [24] for bounded weak Lipschitz domains. The compact embeddings (1.1), (1.6) hold even for bounded weak Lipschitz domains and mixed boundary conditions, see, e.g., the recent results [3, Theorem 4.7, Theorem 4.8]. The first proof of Weck's selection theorem (1.14) for strong Lipschitz domains (strong/uniform cone property), even for differential forms on Riemannian manifolds (and hence especially for $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$), has been given by Weck in [31]. The first proof for weak Lipschitz domains/manifolds is due to Picard and given in [24]. More related results and generalizations can be found in [6,8,9,12,22,23,25,26,30,32]. Note that the boundedness of the underlying domain Ω is crucial, since one has to work in polynomially weighted Sobolev spaces in unbounded (like exterior) domains, see, e.g., [10-12,14-17,22,26].

As we obtain the corresponding normal version

$$\mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)$$

by applying the *-operator, see (1.11), we may concentrate on the tangential version (1.14). Especially, (1.14) implies (again by an indirect argument) the following Maxwell type estimate: There exists $c_{t,q,\epsilon} > 0$ such that for all $\omega \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{D},\epsilon}^q(\Omega)^{^{\perp} \mathsf{L}_{\epsilon}^{2,q}(\Omega)}$

$$|\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \le c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \left(|\operatorname{d}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\delta\epsilon\,\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \tag{1.15}$$

holds. Here, we introduce the finite dimensional (again the unit ball is compact) kernel space of (harmonic) Dirichlet forms by

$$\mathcal{H}^q_{\mathsf{D},\epsilon}(\Omega) := \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q_0(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q_0(\Omega).$$

Throughout this paper, as already mentioned, we assume that always the best possible constants are chosen, e.g., $c_{t,q,\epsilon} > 0$ are defined by

$$\frac{1}{c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon}^{2}} := \min_{\omega} \frac{|\mathsf{d}\,\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\delta\epsilon\,\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2}}{|\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}^{2}},\tag{1.16}$$

where the minimum is taken over $\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}^q_{\mathsf{D},\epsilon}(\Omega)^{\perp_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}}$.

The main result of this paper is Theorem 3.6, i.e., for convex Ω and for all q it holds

$$\frac{c_{\mathsf{f}}}{\hat{\epsilon}} \le c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \le c_{\mathsf{p}} \hat{\epsilon}, \qquad c_{\mathsf{p}} \le \frac{\mathrm{diam}(\Omega)}{\pi}. \tag{1.17}$$

Corollary 3.7 shows that in the case of the other (normal) boundary condition, where the boundary condition is placed on $\epsilon^{-1}\mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$ and the corresponding constant is denoted by $c_{\mathsf{n},q,\epsilon}$, the same result holds for $c_{\mathsf{n},q,\epsilon}$ as well. Especially for $\epsilon=\mathrm{id}$ we have for all q

$$c_{\mathsf{f}} = c_{\mathsf{t},0} = c_{\mathsf{n},N} \le c_{\mathsf{t},q}, c_{\mathsf{n},q} \le c_{\mathsf{t},N} = c_{\mathsf{n},0} = c_{\mathsf{p}} \le \frac{\operatorname{diam}(\Omega)}{\pi}.$$
 (1.18)

Here and generally throughout this contribution, we skip the index ϵ in our notations if the case ϵ = id is considered. We emphasize that (1.17) not only generalizes (1.8) to *N*-dimensions, but even improves (1.8) in 3-dimensions to

$$\frac{c_{\mathsf{f}}}{\hat{\epsilon}} \le c_{\mathsf{m},\mathsf{t},\epsilon}, c_{\mathsf{m},\mathsf{n},\epsilon} \le c_{\mathsf{p}}\hat{\epsilon}. \tag{1.19}$$

In Remark 3.12 we will present a corresponding result for a certain class of non-convex domains, so-called one-chart or one-map domains, which are bi-Lipschitz transformations



of convex domains. By a standard partition of unity argument we obtain results for general weak Lipschitz domains as well.

To prove our main result (1.17) we will only use

• the well-known Friedrichs/Gaffney regularity and estimate for bounded and convex C^{∞} smooth domains $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$, i.e., $\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \Delta^q(\Omega)$ and $\mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$ are subspaces of $\mathsf{H}^{1,q}(\Omega)$ and

$$\forall \omega \in (\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^{q}(\Omega) \cap \Delta^{q}(\Omega)) \cup (\mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\Delta}^{q}(\Omega))$$
$$|\nabla \vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \le |\mathsf{d} \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\delta \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2}, \tag{1.20}$$

- Weck's selection theorem (1.14), which includes Rellich's selection theorems as special cases q = 0 or q = N,
- and some fundamental results from functional analysis.

For the regularity part of (1.20) see also [10].

Using vector proxies for the respective differential forms we get back the classical case of vector fields in \mathbb{R}^3 or \mathbb{R}^N for the special choice q = 1 or q = N - 1. Note that without using differential forms and vector proxies curl E of a smooth vector field E in \mathbb{R}^N may be defined point-wise as a vector in $\mathbb{R}^{(N-1)N/2}$, which is isomorphic to the skew-symmetric part of the Jacobian of E, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{curl} E = 2 \operatorname{skw} \nabla E = \nabla E - (\nabla E)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}.$$

Finally, (1.17) and (1.18) hold for (1.2) and (1.7) in \mathbb{R}^N as well.

2 Preliminaries

Throughout this paper let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$, $N \geq 2$, be a bounded weak Lipschitz domain. Hence Weck's selection theorem (1.14) and the Maxwell type estimate (1.15) hold true.

2.1 Functional Analysis Toolbox

Let $A: D(A) \subset H_1 \to H_2$ denote a closed and densely defined linear operator on two Hilbert spaces H_1 and H_2 with Hilbert space adjoint $A^*: D(A^*) \subset H_2 \to H_1$. Typically, A and A^* are unbounded. The adjoint is characterized by

$$\forall x \in D(A) \quad \forall y \in D(A^*) \qquad \langle Ax, y \rangle_{H_2} = \langle x, A^*y \rangle_{H_1}. \tag{2.1}$$

Note $(A^*)^* = \overline{A} = A$, i.e., (A, A^*) is a dual pair. This shows the trivial but helpful result

$$D(A) = D((A^*)^*) = \{ x \in H_1 : \exists f \in H_2 \ \forall y \in D(A^*) \ \langle x, A^*y \rangle_{H_1} = \langle f, y \rangle_{H_2} \}.$$
 (2.2)

By the projection theorem the Helmholtz type decompositions

$$\mathsf{H}_1 = N(\mathsf{A}) \oplus_{\mathsf{H}_1} \overline{R(\mathsf{A}^*)}, \qquad \mathsf{H}_2 = N(\mathsf{A}^*) \oplus_{\mathsf{H}_2} \overline{R(\mathsf{A})}$$
 (2.3)



hold, where we introduce the notation N for the kernel (or null space) and R for the range of a linear operator and \bigoplus_H denotes orthogonality in a Hilbert space H. We define the reduced operators

$$\mathcal{A} := \mathsf{A}|_{\overline{R(\mathsf{A}^*)}} : D(\mathcal{A}) \subset \overline{R(\mathsf{A}^*)} \to \overline{R(\mathsf{A})}, \qquad D(\mathcal{A}) := D(\mathsf{A}) \cap N(\mathsf{A})^{\perp_{\mathsf{H}_1}} = D(\mathsf{A}) \cap \overline{R(\mathsf{A}^*)},$$

$$\mathcal{A}^* := \mathsf{A}^*|_{\overline{R(\mathsf{A})}} : D(\mathcal{A}^*) \subset \overline{R(\mathsf{A})} \to \overline{R(\mathsf{A})}, \qquad D(\mathcal{A}^*) := D(\mathsf{A}^*) \cap N(\mathsf{A}^*)^{\perp_{\mathsf{H}_2}} = D(\mathsf{A}^*) \cap \overline{R(\mathsf{A})},$$

which are also closed and densely defined linear operators. We note that A and A^* are indeed adjoint to each other, i.e., (A, A^*) is a dual pair as well. Now the inverse operators

$$\mathcal{A}^{-1}: R(A) \to D(\mathcal{A}), \qquad (\mathcal{A}^*)^{-1}: R(A^*) \to D(\mathcal{A}^*)$$

exist and they are bijective, since A and A^* are injective by definition. Furthermore, by (2.3) we have the refined Helmholtz type decompositions

$$D(A) = N(A) \oplus_{H_1} D(A), \quad D(A^*) = N(A^*) \oplus_{H_2} D(A^*)$$
 (2.4)

and thus we obtain for the ranges

$$R(A) = R(A), \quad R(A^*) = R(A^*). \tag{2.5}$$

Using the closed range theorem and the closed graph theorem we get the following result.

Lemma 2.1 The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) $\exists c_A \in (0, \infty) \quad \forall x \in D(A) \quad |x|_{H_1} \leq c_A |Ax|_{H_2}$
- (i*) $\exists c_{A^*} \in (0, \infty) \quad \forall y \in D(A^*) \quad |y|_{H_2} \le c_{A^*} |A^*y|_{H_1}$
- (ii) R(A) = R(A) is closed in H_2 .
- (ii*) $R(A^*) = R(A^*)$ is closed in H_1 .
- (iii) $A^{-1}: R(A) \to D(A)$ is continuous and bijective with norm bounded by $(1+c_A^2)^{1/2}$.
- (iii*) $(A^*)^{-1}: R(A^*) \to D(A^*)$ is continuous and bijective with norm bounded by $(1+c_{A^*}^2)^{1/2}$.

If one of these assertions holds true, e.g., (ii), R(A) = R(A) is closed, then

$$\mathcal{A}: D(\mathcal{A}) \subset R(\mathbf{A}^*) \to R(\mathbf{A}), \quad D(\mathcal{A}) = D(\mathbf{A}) \cap R(\mathbf{A}^*),$$
$$\mathcal{A}^*: D(\mathcal{A}^*) \subset R(\mathbf{A}) \to R(\mathbf{A}^*), \quad D(\mathcal{A}^*) = D(\mathbf{A}^*) \cap R(\mathbf{A}),$$

and the Helmholtz type decompositions

$$H_1 = N(A) \oplus_{H_1} R(A^*), \quad H_2 = N(A^*) \oplus_{H_2} R(A), \quad D(A) = N(A) \oplus_{H_1} D(A),$$

 $D(A^*) = N(A^*) \oplus_{H_2} D(A^*)$

hold.

Throughout this paper we will assume that always the "best" Friedrichs/Poincaré type constants are chosen, i.e., c_A , $c_{A^*} \in (0, \infty]$ are given by the usual Rayleigh quotients

$$\frac{1}{c_{A}} := \inf_{0 \neq x \in D(\mathcal{A})} \frac{|Ax|_{\mathsf{H}_{2}}}{|x|_{\mathsf{H}_{1}}}, \qquad \frac{1}{c_{A^{*}}} := \inf_{0 \neq y \in D(\mathcal{A}^{*})} \frac{|A^{*}y|_{\mathsf{H}_{1}}}{|y|_{\mathsf{H}_{2}}}.$$

Lemma 2.2 The Friedrichs/Poincaré type constants coincide, i.e., $c_A = c_{A^*} \in (0, \infty]$.

Lemma 2.3 *The following assertions are equivalent:*

(i) $D(A) \hookrightarrow H_1$ is compact.



- (i^*) $D(A^*) \hookrightarrow H_2$ is compact.
- (ii) $A^{-1}: R(A) \to R(A^*)$ is compact with norm c_A .
- (ii*) $(A^*)^{-1}: R(A^*) \to R(A)$ is compact with norm $c_{A^*} = c_A$.

If one of these assertions holds true, e.g., (i), $D(A) \hookrightarrow H_1$ is compact, then [by a standard indirect argument showing Lemma 2.1 (i)] the assertions of the latter two lemmas hold. Especially, the Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimates hold, all ranges are closed and the inverse operators are compact.

Now, let $A_0: D(A_0) \subset H_0 \to H_1$ and $A_1: D(A_1) \subset H_1 \to H_2$ be (possibly unbounded) closed and densely defined linear operators on three Hilbert spaces H_0 , H_1 , and H_2 with adjoints $A_0^*: D(A_0^*) \subset H_1 \to H_0$ and $A_1^*: D(A_1^*) \subset H_2 \to H_1$ as well as reduced operators A_0 , A_0^* , and A_1 , A_1^* . Furthermore, we assume the sequence or complex property of A_0 and A_1 , that is, $A_1A_0 \subset 0$, i.e.,

$$R(A_0) \subset N(A_1). \tag{2.6}$$

Then also $A_0^* A_1^* \subset 0$, i.e., $R(A_1^*) \subset N(A_0^*)$, as for all $x \in D(A_0)$, $y \in R(A_1^*)$ with $y = A_1^* z$, $z \in D(A_1^*)$

$$\langle y, A_0 x \rangle_{H_1} = \langle A_1^* z, A_0 x \rangle_{H_1} = \langle z, A_1 A_0 x \rangle_{H_2} = 0.$$

The Helmholtz type decompositions (2.3) for $A = A_0$ and $A = A_1$ read, e.g.,

$$H_1 = \overline{R(A_0)} \oplus_{H_1} N(A_0^*), \quad H_1 = N(A_1) \oplus_{H_1} \overline{R(A_1^*)},$$
 (2.7)

and by the complex properties (2.6) we obtain

$$D(A_1) = \overline{R(A_0)} \oplus_{H_1} (D(A_1) \cap N(A_0^*)), \quad D(A_0^*) = (D(A_0^*) \cap N(A_1)) \oplus_{H_1} \overline{R(A_1^*)},$$

$$N(A_1) = \overline{R(A_0)} \oplus_{H_1} N_{0,1}, \quad N(A_0^*) = N_{0,1} \oplus_{H_1} \overline{R(A_1^*)},$$

where we define the cohomology group

$$N_{0,1} := N(A_1) \cap N(A_0^*).$$

Putting things together, the general refined Helmholtz type decomposition

$$\mathsf{H}_1 = \overline{R(\mathsf{A}_0)} \oplus_{\mathsf{H}_1} N_{0,1} \oplus_{\mathsf{H}_1} \overline{R(\mathsf{A}_1^*)}, \qquad R(\mathsf{A}_0) = R(\mathcal{A}_0), \quad R(\mathsf{A}_1^*) = R(\mathcal{A}_1^*) \tag{2.8}$$

holds. The previous results of this section imply immediately the following.

Lemma 2.4 Let A_0 , A_1 be as introduced before with $A_1A_0 \subset 0$, i.e., (2.6). Moreover, let $R(A_0)$ and $R(A_1)$ be closed. Then, the assertions of Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 2.2 hold for A_0 and A_1 . Moreover, the refined Helmholtz type decompositions

$$\begin{split} H_1 &= R(\mathbf{A}_0) \oplus_{H_1} N_{0,1} \oplus_{H_1} R(\mathbf{A}_1^*), \\ N(\mathbf{A}_1) &= R(\mathbf{A}_0) \oplus_{H_1} N_{0,1}, \\ D(\mathbf{A}_1) &= R(\mathbf{A}_0) \oplus_{H_1} N_{0,1} \oplus_{H_1} D(\mathcal{A}_1), \\ D(\mathbf{A}_1) &= D(\mathcal{A}_0^*) \oplus_{H_1} N_{0,1} \oplus_{H_1} D(\mathcal{A}_1), \\ D(\mathbf{A}_1) \cap D(\mathbf{A}_0^*) &= D(\mathcal{A}_0^*) \oplus_{H_1} N_{0,1} \oplus_{H_1} D(\mathcal{A}_1) \end{split}$$

hold. Especially,

$$R(A_0) = N(A_1) \cap N_{0,1}^{\perp_{H_1}}, \qquad R(A_0^*), \qquad R(A_1), \qquad R(A_1^*) = N(A_0^*) \cap N_{0,1}^{\perp_{H_1}}$$



are closed, the respective inverse operators, i.e.,

$$A_0^{-1}: R(A_0) \to D(A_0),$$
 $A_1^{-1}: R(A_1) \to D(A_1),$ $(A_0^*)^{-1}: R(A_0^*) \to D(A_0^*),$ $(A_1^*)^{-1}: R(A_1^*) \to D(A_1^*),$

are continuous, and there exist positive constants c_{A_0} , c_{A_1} , such that the Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimates

$$\forall x \in D(\mathcal{A}_0) \qquad |x|_{\mathcal{H}_0} \le c_{A_0} |A_0 x|_{\mathcal{H}_1}, \qquad \forall y \in D(\mathcal{A}_1) \qquad |y|_{\mathcal{H}_1} \le c_{A_1} |A_1 y|_{\mathcal{H}_2},$$

$$\forall y \in D(\mathcal{A}_0^*) \qquad |y|_{\mathcal{H}_1} \le c_{A_0} |A_0^* y|_{\mathcal{H}_0}, \qquad \forall z \in D(\mathcal{A}_1^*) \qquad |z|_{\mathcal{H}_2} \le c_{A_1} |A_1^* z|_{\mathcal{H}_1}$$

hold.

Remark 2.5 If, e.g., $D(A_0) \hookrightarrow H_0$ and $D(A_1) \hookrightarrow H_1$ are compact, then $R(A_0)$ and $R(A_1)$ are closed and hence the assertions of Lemma 2.4 hold. Moreover, the respective inverse operators, i.e.,

$$A_0^{-1}: R(A_0) \to R(A_0^*),$$
 $A_1^{-1}: R(A_1) \to R(A_1^*),$ $(A_0^*)^{-1}: R(A_0^*) \to R(A_0),$ $(A_1^*)^{-1}: R(A_1^*) \to R(A_1),$

are compact.

By the complex property we observe $D(A_1)$, $D(A_0^*) \subset D(A_1) \cap D(A_0^*)$. Utilizing the Helmholtz type decomposition (2.8) we immediately see the following.

Lemma 2.6 The embeddings $D(A_0) \hookrightarrow H_0$, $D(A_1) \hookrightarrow H_1$, and $N_{0,1} \hookrightarrow H_1$ are compact, if and only if the embedding $D(A_1) \cap D(A_0^*) \hookrightarrow H_1$ is compact. In this case, $N_{0,1}$ has finite dimension.

Remark 2.7 Let us consider the sequence or complex

$$D(A_0) \subset H_0 \xrightarrow{A_0} D(A_1) \subset H_1 \xrightarrow{A_1} H_2. \tag{2.9}$$

- (i) The general assumptions on A_0 and A_1 are equivalent to the assumption that (2.9) is a Hilbert complex, meaning that the operators are closed and satisfy the complex property (2.6).
- (ii) The assumption that the ranges $R(A_0)$ and $R(A_1)$ are closed is equivalent to the assumption that (2.9) is a closed Hilbert complex.
- (iii) The assumption that the embeddings $D(A_0) \hookrightarrow H_0$ and $D(A_1) \hookrightarrow H_1$ are compact is equivalent to the assumption that (2.9) is a compact Hilbert complex, which is always closed.
- (iv) The assumption that the embedding $D(A_1) \cap D(A_0^*) \hookrightarrow H_1$ is compact is equivalent to the assumption that (2.9) is a Fredholm complex, meaning that the complex is compact and the cohomology group $N_{0,1}$ is finite dimensional.

The strongest property (iv) is the most desirable one, and we can realize this is our applications. By the previous results, any property of the primal complex (2.9) is transferred to the corresponding property of the dual complex

$$\mathsf{H}_0 \xleftarrow{\mathsf{A}_0^*} D(\mathsf{A}_0^*) \subset \mathsf{H}_1 \xleftarrow{\mathsf{A}_1^*} D(\mathsf{A}_1^*) \subset \mathsf{H}_2$$

and vise verse.

We can summarize.



Theorem 2.8 Let A_0 , A_1 be as introduced, i.e., having the complex property $R(A_0) \subset N(A_1)$. Moreover, let $D(A_1) \cap D(A_0^*) \hookrightarrow H_1$ be compact. Then the assertions of Lemma 2.4 hold, $N_{0,1}$ is finite dimensional and the corresponding inverse operators are continuous resp. compact. Especially, all ranges are closed and the corresponding Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimates hold.

Theorem 2.9 Let A_0 , A_1 be as introduced, i.e., having the complex property $R(A_0) \subset N(A_1)$, and let $D(A_1) \cap D(A_0^*) \hookrightarrow H_1$ be compact. Then

$$\forall x \in D(\mathbf{A}_1) \cap D(\mathbf{A}_0^*) \cap N_{0,1}^{\perp_{H_1}} \quad |x|_{H_1}^2 \le c_{\mathbf{A}_0}^2 |\mathbf{A}_0^* x|_{H_0}^2 + c_{\mathbf{A}_1}^2 |\mathbf{A}_1 x|_{H_2}^2.$$

Especially,

$$\forall \, x \in D(\mathbf{A}_1) \cap D(\mathbf{A}_0^*) \cap N_{0,1}^{\perp_{H_1}} \qquad |x|_{H_1} \leq \max\{c_{\mathbf{A}_0}, c_{\mathbf{A}_1}\} \left(|\mathbf{A}_0^* x|_{H_0}^2 + |\mathbf{A}_1 x|_{H_2}^2 \right)^{1/2}.$$

Proof Let $x \in D(A_1) \cap D(A_0^*) \cap N_{0,1}^{\perp_{H_1}}$. By the Helmholtz type decomposition of Lemma 2.4 we have

$$D(A_1) \cap D(A_0^*) \cap N_{0,1}^{\perp_{H_1}} = D(A_0^*) \oplus_{H_1} D(A_1)$$

and hence we can decompose

$$x = x_0 + x_1 \in D(A_0^*) \oplus_{H_1} D(A_1), \quad A_0^* x = A_0^* x_0, \quad A_1 x = A_1 x_1.$$

By orthogonality and the Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimates we get

$$|x|_{\mathsf{H}_1}^2 = |x_0|_{\mathsf{H}_1}^2 + |x_1|_{\mathsf{H}_1}^2 \le c_{\mathsf{A}_0}^2 |\mathsf{A}_0^* x_0|_{\mathsf{H}_0}^2 + c_{\mathsf{A}_1}^2 |\mathsf{A}_1 x_1|_{\mathsf{H}_2}^2 = c_{\mathsf{A}_0}^2 |\mathsf{A}_0^* x|_{\mathsf{H}_0}^2 + c_{\mathsf{A}_1}^2 |\mathsf{A}_1 x|_{\mathsf{H}_2}^2,$$
 completing the proof. \square

Remark 2.10 In Theorem 2.9 max $\{c_{A_0}, c_{A_1}\} = c_{A_0, A_1}$ is the best constant (or sharp), where

$$\frac{1}{c_{\mathrm{A_0,A_1}}^2} := \inf_{0 \neq x \in D(\mathrm{A_1}) \cap D(\mathrm{A_0^*}) \cap N_{0,1}^{\perp_{\mathrm{H_1}}}} \frac{|\mathrm{A_0^*}x|_{\mathrm{H_0}}^2 + |\mathrm{A_1}x|_{\mathrm{H_2}}^2}{|x|_{\mathrm{H_1}}^2}.$$

It is clear that $c_{A_0,A_1} \le \max\{c_{A_0},c_{A_1}\}$ holds by Theorem 2.9. On the other hand, looking at the subspaces (ranges) of the Helmholtz type decompositions one obtains immediately $c_{A_0} \le c_{A_0,A_1}$, if, e.g., $\max\{c_{A_0},c_{A_1}\}=c_{A_0}$.

2.2 Applications to differential forms

We will apply Theorem 2.9 in our differential form setting. As closure of the exterior derivative defined on $\mathring{C}^{\infty,q}(\Omega)$ as an unbounded operator on $L^2(\Omega)$ we get that

$$\mathring{\mathrm{d}}_q: \mathring{\mathrm{D}}^q(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)$$

is a closed and densely defined linear operator with closed adjoint

$$\mathring{\mathbf{d}}_q^* = \delta_{q+1} : \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega).$$

These operators satisfy the natural complex property $\mathring{d}_{q+1} \mathring{d}_q \subset 0$, i.e., $R(\mathring{d}_q) \subset N(\mathring{d}_{q+1})$, and thus also $\delta_q \delta_{q+1} \subset 0$, i.e., $R(\delta_{q+1}) \subset N(\delta_q)$. Analogously or using the *-operator we can define closed operators for the other boundary condition, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{d}_q: \mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega), \quad \mathbf{d}_q^* = \mathring{\delta}_{q+1}: \mathring{\Delta}^{q+1}(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega),$$



which also satisfy the complex properties, i.e., $d_{q+1} d_q \subset 0$ and $\mathring{\delta}_q \mathring{\delta}_{q+1} \subset 0$. Note that

$$\begin{split} &D(\mathring{\mathbf{d}}_q) = \mathring{\mathbf{D}}^q(\Omega), \qquad D(\mathbf{d}_q) = \mathsf{D}^q(\Omega), \qquad D(\mathring{\delta}_q) = \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega), \qquad D(\delta_q) = \Delta^q(\Omega), \\ &N(\mathring{\mathbf{d}}_q) = \mathring{\mathbf{D}}_0^q(\Omega), \qquad N(\mathbf{d}_q) = \mathsf{D}_0^q(\Omega), \qquad N(\mathring{\delta}_q) = \mathring{\Delta}_0^q(\Omega), \qquad N(\delta_q) = \Delta_0^q(\Omega). \end{split}$$

By (2.1) we get trivially the rules of partial integration, i.e.,

$$\begin{split} &\forall\,\omega\in\mathring{\text{D}}^q(\Omega)\quad\forall\,\zeta\in\Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \qquad \langle\mathring{\text{d}}_q\,\omega,\,\zeta\rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} = -\langle\omega,\,\delta_{q+1}\,\zeta\rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)},\\ &\forall\,\omega\in\mathsf{D}^q(\Omega)\quad\forall\,\zeta\in\mathring{\Delta}^{q+1}(\Omega) \qquad \langle\mathring{\text{d}}_q\,\omega,\,\zeta\rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} = -\langle\omega,\,\mathring{\delta}_{q+1}\,\zeta\rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}. \end{split} \tag{2.10}$$

(2.2) provides a useful characterization of homogeneous boundary conditions, i.e.,

 $\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega)$

$$\begin{split} &=D(\mathring{\mathbf{d}}_q)=D\big((\mathring{\mathbf{d}}_q^*)^*\big)=D(\delta_{q+1}^*)\\ &=\big\{\omega\in\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)\,:\,\exists\,\zeta\in\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)\;\forall\,\varphi\in D(\delta_{q+1})=\Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)\;\;\langle\omega,\delta_{q+1}\varphi\rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}\\ &=\langle\zeta,\varphi\rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}\big\}\\ &=\big\{\omega\in\mathsf{D}^q(\Omega)\,:\,\forall\,\varphi\in\Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)\;\;\langle\omega,\delta_{q+1}\varphi\rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}=\langle\mathsf{d}_q\,\omega,\varphi\rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}\big\}, \end{split}$$

and analogously or by the *-operator we also get

$$\mathring{\Delta}^{q}(\Omega) = \left\{ \omega \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega) : \exists \xi \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega) \, \forall \, \varphi \in \mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega) \right.$$

$$\langle \omega, \mathsf{d}_{q-1} \, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = \langle \xi, \, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \right\}.$$
(2.11)

In the following we will skip the index q on the operators and write just \mathring{d} , d and $\mathring{\delta}$, δ . To incorporate the material law ϵ we need to modify these operators slightly. For this, let us fix some $q=0,\ldots,N$ and let ϵ be an admissible transformation on q-forms. Defining the closed and densely defined linear operators

$$A_0 := \mathring{d} : \mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega),$$

$$A_1 := \mathring{d} : \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega),$$

we see that their closed adjoints are

$$A_0^* = \mathring{\mathbf{d}}^* = \delta \epsilon : \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{L}_{\epsilon}^{2,q}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega),$$

$$A_1^* = \mathring{\mathbf{d}}^* = \epsilon^{-1} \delta : \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}_{\epsilon}^{2,q}(\Omega).$$

Again these operators satisfy the complex property $A_1A_0 = \mathring{d} \mathring{d} \subset 0$, i.e., $R(\mathring{d}) \subset N(\mathring{d})$, and thus also $A_0^*A_1^* = \delta \epsilon \epsilon^{-1}\delta \subset 0$, i.e., $R(\epsilon^{-1}\delta) \subset N(\delta \epsilon)$. As before, analogously or using the *-operator we can also define the closed operators

$$\begin{split} \tilde{A}_0 &:= d: \mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega) \quad \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega), \\ \tilde{A}_1 &:= d: \mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) \quad \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega), \\ \tilde{A}^*_0 &= d^* = \mathring{\delta}\epsilon : \epsilon^{-1}\mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega) \quad \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega), \\ \tilde{A}^*_1 &= d^* = \epsilon^{-1}\mathring{\delta} : \mathring{\Delta}^{q+1}(\Omega) \quad \subset \mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega) \to \mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega), \end{split}$$

which satisfy the complex properties as well.



We will focus on the operators A_0 , A_1 , A_0^* , A_1^* . At this point let us note that all results of the Functional Analysis Toolbox Section 2.1 are applicable since by Weck's selection theorem (1.14) the embedding

$$D(A_1) \cap D(A_0^*) = \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L_{\epsilon}^{2,q}(\Omega) = H_1$$

is compact, see, e.g., Theorem 2.8. Especially, all ranges are closed, the inverse operators are continuous resp. compact, the corresponding Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimates and Helmholtz type decompositions hold, and the cohomology group

$$N_{0,1} = N(\mathbf{A}_1) \cap N(\mathbf{A}_0^*) = \mathring{\mathsf{D}}_0^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta_0^q(\Omega) = \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{D},\epsilon}^q(\Omega)$$

has finite dimension. The corresponding reduced operators are

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_0 &= \mathring{\mathbf{d}} : \mathring{\mathbf{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega) \cap \delta \Delta^q(\Omega) \quad \subset \delta \Delta^q(\Omega) \to \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\mathbf{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega), \\ \mathcal{A}_0^* &= \delta \epsilon : \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\mathbf{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega) \quad \subset \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\mathbf{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega) \to \delta \Delta^q(\Omega), \\ \mathcal{A}_1 &= \mathring{\mathbf{d}} : \mathring{\mathbf{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \quad \subset \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \to \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\mathbf{D}}^q(\Omega), \\ \mathcal{A}_1^* &= \epsilon^{-1} \delta : \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\mathbf{D}}^q(\Omega) \quad \subset \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\mathbf{D}}^q(\Omega) \to \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega), \end{split}$$

where $\mathring{d} \, \mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega)$ and $\epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)$ have to be understood as closed subspaces of $L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)$. In this case, Lemma 2.4 and Theorem 2.8 read as follows.

Corollary 2.11 The refined Helmholtz type decompositions

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega) &= \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \, \mathcal{H}^q_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \, \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega), \\ \mathring{D}^q_0(\Omega) &= \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \, \mathcal{H}^q_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega), \\ \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q_0(\Omega) &= \mathcal{H}^q_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \, \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega), \\ \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) &= \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \, \mathcal{H}^q_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \, \left(\mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)\right), \\ \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) &= \left(\epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega)\right) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \, \mathcal{H}^q_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \, \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega), \\ \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) &= \left(\epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega)\right) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \, \mathcal{H}^q_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathcal{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \\ &\times \left(\mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)\right) \end{split}$$

hold, all ranges

$$\begin{split} \mathring{D}_{0}^{q}(\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}_{D,\epsilon}^{q}(\Omega)^{^{\perp} L_{\epsilon}^{2,q}(\Omega)} &= \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega) = \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \left(\mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega) \cap \delta \Delta^{q}(\Omega)\right), \\ \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \mathring{D}^{q}(\Omega) &= \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \left(\mathring{D}^{q}(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)\right), \\ \delta \Delta^{q}(\Omega) &= \delta \left(\epsilon^{-1} \Delta^{q}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \mathring{D}^{q-1}(\Omega)\right), \\ \epsilon^{-1} \Delta_{0}^{q}(\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}_{D,\epsilon}^{q}(\Omega)^{^{\perp} L_{\epsilon}^{2,q}(\Omega)} &= \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) = \epsilon^{-1} \delta \left(\Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \mathring{D}^{q}(\Omega)\right), \end{split}$$

are closed, the space of Dirichlet forms $\mathcal{H}^q_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega) = \mathring{D}^q_0(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q_0(\Omega)$ is finite dimensional, the respective inverse operators, i.e.,



$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_0^{-1} &= \mathring{\mathbf{d}}^{-1} : \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\boldsymbol{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega) \quad \rightarrow \mathring{\boldsymbol{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega) \cap \delta \Delta^q(\Omega), \\ \mathcal{A}_1^{-1} &= \mathring{\mathbf{d}}^{-1} : \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\boldsymbol{D}}^q(\Omega) \quad \rightarrow \mathring{\boldsymbol{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega), \\ (\mathcal{A}_0^*)^{-1} &= (\delta \epsilon)^{-1} : \delta \Delta^q(\Omega) \quad \rightarrow \left(\epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\boldsymbol{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega)\right), \\ (\mathcal{A}_1^*)^{-1} &= (\epsilon^{-1} \delta)^{-1} : \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \quad \rightarrow \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\boldsymbol{D}}^q(\Omega), \end{split}$$

are continuous, and there exist positive constants $c_{A_0} = \tilde{c}_{\mathring{d},t,q-1,\epsilon}$ and $c_{A_1} = c_{\mathring{d},t,q,\epsilon}$, such that the Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimates

$$\begin{split} \forall \, \xi \in \mathring{\mathcal{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega) \cap \delta \Delta^q(\Omega) & |\xi|_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1,\epsilon} \, |\, \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \xi|_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}, \\ \forall \, \omega \in \mathring{\mathcal{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) & |\omega|_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \, |\, \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \omega|_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}, \\ \forall \, \omega \in \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\mathcal{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega) & |\omega|_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1,\epsilon} \, |\delta \epsilon \, \omega|_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}, \\ \forall \, \zeta \in \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\mathcal{D}}^q(\Omega) & |\zeta|_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \, |\epsilon^{-1} \delta \zeta|_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}, \end{split}$$

hold.

Remark 2.12 The corresponding corollary holds for the other boundary conditions on $\mathring{\Delta}^{...}(\Omega)$ for the operators \tilde{A}_0 , \tilde{A}_0^* , \tilde{A}_1 , \tilde{A}_1^* as well.

For $\epsilon = \text{id}$ just one constant for a single q is needed. More precisely:

Lemma 2.13 *Let* $\epsilon = \text{id}$. *Then for all q*

$$\tilde{c}_{\mathrm{d},t,q} = c_{\mathrm{d},t,q}$$

and the Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimates

$$\begin{split} \forall \, \omega \in \mathring{\mathcal{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) & |\omega|_{L^{2,q}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,q} \, |\, \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \omega|_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}, \\ \forall \, \zeta \in \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \mathring{\mathcal{D}}^q(\Omega) & |\zeta|_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,q} \, |\delta \zeta|_{L^{2,q}(\Omega)} \end{split}$$

hold. Applying the *-operator we have

$$\begin{split} \forall \, \omega \in \mathring{\Delta}^{N-q}(\Omega) \cap \operatorname{d} D^{N-q-1}(\Omega) & |\omega|_{L^{2,N-q}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathring{\operatorname{d}},\mathsf{t},q} |\mathring{\delta}\omega|_{L^{2,N-q-1}(\Omega)}, \\ \forall \, \zeta \in D^{N-q-1}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\delta}\mathring{\Delta}^{N-q}(\Omega) & |\zeta|_{L^{2,N-q-1}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathring{\operatorname{d}},\mathsf{t},q} |\operatorname{d} \zeta|_{L^{2,N-q}(\Omega)}. \end{split}$$

All these four Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimates hold with the same best constants c_{d+a} .

With these settings our estimate of interest (1.15), i.e.,

$$|\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \left(|\mathring{\mathrm{d}} \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^2 + |\delta \epsilon \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^2 \right)^{1/2}$$

for all $\omega \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}^q_{\mathsf{D}_\epsilon}(\Omega)^{\perp_{\mathsf{L}^2_\epsilon,q}(\Omega)}$, reads

$$\forall x \in D(\mathbf{A}_1) \cap D(\mathbf{A}_0^*) \cap N_{0,1}^{\perp_{\mathsf{H}_1}} \qquad |x|_{\mathsf{H}_1} \leq c_{\mathsf{A}_0,\mathsf{A}_1} \left(|\mathbf{A}_1 x|_{\mathsf{H}_2}^2 + |\mathbf{A}_0^* x|_{\mathsf{H}_0}^2 \right)^{1/2}$$

and by Theorem 2.9 and Remark 2.10 we know

$$c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} = c_{\mathsf{A}_0,\mathsf{A}_1} = \max\{c_{\mathsf{A}_0},c_{\mathsf{A}_1}\} = \max\{\tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1,\epsilon},c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon}\}$$

using the notations from Corollary 2.11. More precisely, Theorem 2.9 shows:



Corollary 2.14 For all $\omega \in \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}_{D,\epsilon}^q(\Omega)^{\perp} \iota_{\epsilon^{-q}(\Omega)}^2$

$$\left|\omega\right|^2_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \leq c^2_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q,\epsilon} \left| \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \omega\right|^2_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} + \tilde{c}^2_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q-1,\epsilon} \left| \delta \epsilon \, \omega\right|^2_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}$$

and hence

$$|\omega|_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \leq c_{t,q,\epsilon} \left(|\mathring{\mathrm{d}} \omega|^2_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} + |\delta\epsilon \, \omega|^2_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \right)^{1/2}, \qquad c_{t,q,\epsilon} = \max\{ \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,q-1,\epsilon}, c_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,q,\epsilon}^* \}.$$

3 Main results

By Corollary 2.14 we have to find upper and lower bounds for the constants $\tilde{c}_{\mathring{d},t,q-1,\epsilon}$ and $c_{\mathring{d},t,q,\epsilon}$. As a first step, we take care of the dependencies on the transformation ϵ .

Lemma 3.1 It holds

$$\frac{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q-1}}{\overline{\epsilon}} \leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q-1,\epsilon} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q-1}\underline{\epsilon}, \qquad \frac{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q}}{\epsilon} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q,\epsilon} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q}\overline{\epsilon}.$$

Moreover,

$$\frac{\min\{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,q-1},c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,q}\}}{\hat{\epsilon}} \leq c_{t,q,\epsilon} = \max\{\tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,q-1,\epsilon},c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,q,\epsilon}\} \leq \max\{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,q-1},c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,q}\}\hat{\epsilon}.$$

Proof Let $\xi \in \mathring{\mathbb{D}}^{q-1}(\Omega) \cap \delta \Delta^q(\Omega)$. By Lemma 2.13 and (1.12), (1.13) we see

$$|\xi|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1}|\mathring{\mathbf{d}}\,\xi|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1}\underline{\epsilon}\,|\mathring{\mathbf{d}}\,\xi|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)},$$

and hence $\tilde{c}_{d,t,q-1,\epsilon} \leq c_{d,t,q-1}\underline{\epsilon}$. On the other hand, by Corollary 2.11 and (1.12), (1.13)

$$|\xi|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1,\epsilon} |\mathring{\mathbf{d}}\,\xi|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\mathsf{d}}(\Omega)} \leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1,\epsilon} \overline{\epsilon} \, |\mathring{\mathbf{d}}\,\xi|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}$$

holds, and hence by Lemma 2.13 $c_{\mathring{d},t,q-1} \leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{d},t,q-1,\epsilon}\overline{\epsilon}$. Now, pick $\omega \in \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1}\delta\Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)$. According to Corollary 2.11 (with $\epsilon = \mathrm{id}$) it holds

$$\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^{q}(\Omega) = \mathring{\mathsf{D}}_{0}^{q}(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} (\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^{q}(\Omega) \cap \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega))$$

and we can decompose

$$\omega = \omega_0 + \omega_\delta, \quad \omega_0 \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}_0^q(\Omega), \quad \omega_\delta \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)$$

with $\mathring{d} \omega = \mathring{d} \omega_{\delta}$. By orthogonality as well as Lemma 2.13 and (1.12), (1.13) we have

$$\begin{split} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}^2 &= \langle \epsilon \, \omega, \omega_{\delta} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathsf{d},\mathsf{t},q} |\epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} |\, \mathring{\mathsf{d}} \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq c_{\mathsf{d},\mathsf{t},q} \overline{\epsilon} \, |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} |\, \mathring{\mathsf{d}} \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}, \end{split}$$

and thus $c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q,\epsilon} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q}\overline{\epsilon}$. On the other hand, let $\omega \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \delta\Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)$. According to Corollary 2.11 it holds

$$\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) = \mathring{\mathsf{D}}_0^q(\Omega) \oplus_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} (\mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega))$$

and we can decompose

$$\omega = \omega_0 + \omega_\delta, \qquad \omega_0 \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}_0^q(\Omega), \quad \omega_\delta \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \delta \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)$$



with $\mathring{d}\omega = \mathring{d}\omega_{\delta}$. By orthogonality as well as Corollary 2.11 and (1.12), (1.13) we have

$$\begin{split} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2 &= \langle \omega, \omega_\delta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \leq \underline{\epsilon} \, |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} |\omega_\delta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \underline{\epsilon} \, |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} |\mathring{\mathsf{d}} \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}, \\ \text{and thus } c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q}^* &\leq c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \underline{\epsilon}. \end{split}$$

It remains to estimate for all q the constants $c_{d,t,q}$. For this we need the following result about regularity and Gaffney's inequality in convex domains.

Lemma 3.2 Assume Ω additionally to be convex. Let $\omega \in \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \Delta^q(\Omega)$ or $\omega \in D^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$. Then $\omega \in H^{1,q}(\Omega)$ and

$$|\nabla \vec{\omega}|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \le |\operatorname{d} \omega|_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^2 + |\delta \omega|_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^2.$$

We will give a simple proof in Appendix A, only based on the well known corresponding result for smooth and convex domains, see (1.20). A proof of Lemma 3.2 can also be found in the nice paper of Mitrea [13, Theorem 5.5], see also [13, Corollary 5.6]. For N=3, partial and weaker results have been established earlier in [27, 1.4 Satz, 5.5 Satz], [29, Theorem 3.1], [5, Corollary 3.6, Theorem 3.9], [1, Theorem 2.17]. Note that for all $\omega \in \mathring{H}^{1,q}(\Omega)$ Gaffney's equation

$$|\nabla \vec{\omega}|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} = |\operatorname{d} \omega|_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\delta \omega|_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2}$$
(3.1)

holds, and that for convex domains all cohomology groups are trivial, i.e., $\mathcal{H}^q_{D,\epsilon}(\Omega) = \{0\}$. Now we can prove the key result for upper bounds.

Lemma 3.3 Assume Ω additionally to be convex. Then $c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q} \leq c_p$.

Proof By Lemma 2.13 we may pick $\zeta \in \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \mathring{\mathrm{D}}^q(\Omega) = \Delta^{q+1}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathrm{D}}_0^{q+1}(\Omega)$. Hence $\zeta = \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \omega$ with some $\omega \in \mathring{\mathrm{D}}^q(\Omega)$. Lemma 3.2 shows $\zeta \in \mathsf{H}^{1,q+1}(\Omega)$ and for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and all I it holds

$$\langle \zeta_I, a \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)} = \langle \zeta, a \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} = a \, \langle \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \omega, \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} = -a \, \langle \omega, \delta \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = 0.$$

Thus $\zeta_I \in \mathsf{H}^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbb{R}^{\perp_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}}$ for all I and we can apply the Poincaré estimate and Lemma 3.2 to obtain

$$|\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^2 = \sum_I |\zeta_I|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 \leq c_\mathsf{p}^2 \sum_I |\nabla \zeta_I|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 = c_\mathsf{p}^2 |\nabla \vec{\zeta}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 \leq c_\mathsf{p}^2 |\delta \zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2.$$

Hence
$$c_{d,t,q} \leq c_p$$
.

A proof of Lemma 3.3 can also be found in [13, Corollary 5.10], where the estimates are equivalently formulated in terms of estimates for eigenvalues. For N = 3, the tangential boundary condition in $\mathring{H}(\text{curl}, \Omega)$, and smooth convex domains the result has also been established in [2, Theorem 3.1]. In both papers, especially in [2], the proof is more lengthy and complicated than our short proof.

For lower bounds we have the following.

Lemma 3.4 Assume Ω additionally to be topologically trivial. Then $c_{t,q} \geq c_f$.



Proof As Ω is topologically trivial, all cohomology groups vanish. Therefore, for all $u \in \mathring{H}^1(\Omega)$ and some I and with $\omega := u \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I \in \mathring{H}^{1,q}(\Omega) \subset \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$ we compute by (1.15) and (3.1)

$$|u|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} = |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \le c_{\mathsf{t},q} \left(|\operatorname{d} \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\delta \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2} \right)^{1/2}$$

= $c_{\mathsf{t},q} |\nabla \vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} = c_{\mathsf{t},q} |\nabla u|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}.$

Thus $c_f \leq c_{t,q}$.

Lemma 3.5 Assume Ω additionally to be topologically trivial. Then $c_{t,q,\epsilon} \geq \frac{c_f}{\hat{z}}$.

Proof It holds $c_{\mathsf{t},q} = \max\{c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1},c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q}\}$ and $c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} = \max\{\tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1,\epsilon},c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon}\}$. If $c_{\mathsf{t},q} = c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1}$, then by Lemma 3.1 and Lemma 3.4

$$c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \geq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathtt{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1,\epsilon} \geq \frac{c_{\mathring{\mathtt{d}},\mathsf{t},q-1}}{\overline{\epsilon}} = \frac{c_{\mathsf{t},q}}{\overline{\epsilon}} \geq \frac{c_{\mathsf{f}}}{\hat{\epsilon}}.$$

If $c_{t,q} = c_{d,t,a}$, then by Lemma 3.1 and Lemma 3.4

$$c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \geq c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \geq \frac{c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},q}}{\epsilon} = \frac{c_{\mathsf{t},q}}{\epsilon} \geq \frac{c_{\mathsf{f}}}{\hat{\epsilon}},$$

completing the proof.

Combining Corollary 2.14, Lemma 3.1, Lemma 3.3, Lemma 3.4, and Lemma 3.5 we can formulate our main result.

Theorem 3.6 Assume Ω additionally to be convex. Then for all $\omega \in \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega)$

$$\begin{split} \left|\omega\right|^2_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} &\leq c^2_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,q,\epsilon} \left| \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \omega\right|^2_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} + \tilde{c}^2_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,q-1,\epsilon} \left| \delta \epsilon \, \omega\right|^2_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq c^2_{t,q,\epsilon} \Big(\left| \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \omega\right|^2_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} + \left| \delta \epsilon \, \omega\right|^2_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \Big). \end{split}$$

Moreover,

$$\frac{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q-1}}{\overline{\epsilon}} \leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q-1,\epsilon} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q-1}\underline{\epsilon} \leq c_{p}\underline{\epsilon}, \qquad \frac{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q}}{\epsilon} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q,\epsilon} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathbf{t},q}\overline{\epsilon} \leq c_{p}\overline{\epsilon}$$

as well as

$$\frac{c_f}{\hat{\epsilon}} \le c_{t,q,\epsilon} = \max\{\tilde{c}_{\mathring{a},t,q-1,\epsilon}, c_{\mathring{a},t,q,\epsilon}\} \le c_p \hat{\epsilon}, \qquad c_p \le \frac{\operatorname{diam}(\Omega)}{\pi}.$$

Especially, for $\epsilon = id$ it holds for all q

$$\tilde{c}_{\mathring{d},t,q} = c_{\mathring{d},t,q} \le c_p, \quad c_f \le c_{t,q} = \max\{c_{\mathring{d},t,q-1}, c_{\mathring{d},t,q}\} \le c_p \le \frac{\operatorname{diam}(\Omega)}{\pi}.$$
 (3.2)

The corresponding theorem holds for the other boundary condition as well.

Corollary 3.7 Assume Ω additionally to be convex. Then for all $\omega \in D^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1}\mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$

$$\begin{split} \left|\omega\right|^{2}_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} &\leq \tilde{c}^{2}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q-1,\mu} \left| \, \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \omega \right|^{2}_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} + c^{2}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q,\mu} \left| \mathring{\delta} \epsilon \, \omega \right|^{2}_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq c^{2}_{t,N-q,\mu} \left(\left| \, \mathring{\mathbf{d}} \, \omega \right|^{2}_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} + \left| \mathring{\delta} \epsilon \, \omega \right|^{2}_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \right), \end{split}$$



where $\mu := (-1)^{q(N-q)} * \epsilon^{-1} *$. Moreover,

$$\begin{split} &\frac{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q-1}^{\bullet}}{\underline{\epsilon}} \leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q-1,\mu}^{\bullet} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q-1}\overline{\epsilon} \leq c_{p}\overline{\epsilon}, \\ &\frac{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q}^{\bullet}}{\overline{\epsilon}} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q,\mu} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q}\underline{\epsilon} \leq c_{p}\underline{\epsilon} \end{split}$$

as well as

$$\frac{c_f}{\hat{\epsilon}} \le c_{t,N-q,\mu} = \max\{\tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q-1,\mu}, c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q,\mu}\} \le c_p \hat{\epsilon}, \qquad c_p \le \frac{\operatorname{diam}(\Omega)}{\pi}.$$

Especially, (3.2) holds for $\epsilon = id$ and for all q.

In the introduction we have denoted $c_{t,N-q,\mu}$ by $c_{n,q,\epsilon}$.

Proof Let $\omega \in \mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$. Then $*\omega \in \Delta^{N-q}(\Omega)$ and with $\mu^{-1} = (-1)^{q(N-q)} *\epsilon *$ we have

$$\zeta := *\epsilon \, \omega = (-1)^{q(N-q)} *\epsilon **\omega \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^{N-q}(\Omega) \cap \mu^{-1} \Delta^{N-q}(\Omega).$$

As ϵ is admissible, so is $(-1)^{q(N-q)} * \epsilon *$ and hence also its inverse μ . Theorem 3.7 applied to N-q, ζ , μ instead of q, ω , ϵ shows

$$\begin{split} |\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q}_{\mu}(\Omega)}^2 & \leq c_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},N-q,\mu}^2 |\mathring{\mathsf{d}}\,\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q+1}(\Omega)}^2 + \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathsf{d}},\mathsf{t},N-q-1,\mu}^2 |\delta\mu\,\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q-1}(\Omega)}^2 \\ & \leq c_{\mathsf{t},N-q,\mu}^2 \big(|\mathring{\mathsf{d}}\,\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q+1}(\Omega)}^2 + |\delta\mu\,\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q-1}(\Omega)}^2 \big). \end{split}$$

Moreover, $*\epsilon *$ has the same properties (1.12), (1.13) as ϵ and hence, as inverse, μ inherits these properties with ϵ and $\overline{\epsilon}$ interchanged. Note that, e.g.,

$$\begin{split} \langle \mu \, \zeta, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q}(\Omega)} &= \langle \epsilon^{-1} * \zeta, * \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = |\epsilon^{-1/2} * \zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2 \leq \underline{\epsilon}^2 |\epsilon^{-1/2} * \zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2 \\ &= \underline{\epsilon}^2 |\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q}(\Omega)}^2 \end{split}$$

holds by (1.13). Hence the estimates for the constants follow immediately. Plugging in

$$\begin{split} |\zeta|^2_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q}_{\underline{q}}(\Omega)} &= \langle \mu \, \zeta, \, \zeta \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q}(\Omega)} = (-1)^{q(N-q)} \langle * \, \epsilon^{-1} \, * \, * \, \epsilon \, \omega, \, * \, \epsilon \, \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q}(\Omega)} \\ &= \langle \omega, \epsilon \, \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = |\omega|^2_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\underline{e}}(\Omega)}, \\ |\mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \zeta \, |_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q+1}(\Omega)} &= |\mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, * \, \epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q+1}(\Omega)} = |\mathring{\delta} \epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}, \\ |\delta \mu \, \zeta \, |_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q-1}(\Omega)} &= |\delta \, * \, \epsilon^{-1} \, * \, * \, \epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q-1}(\Omega)} = |\mathop{\mathrm{d}} \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} \end{split}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}^{2} &\leq c_{\mathrm{d},\mathsf{t},N-q,\mu}^{2} |\mathring{\delta}\epsilon\,\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2} + \tilde{c}_{\mathrm{d},\mathsf{t},N-q-1,\mu}^{2} |\operatorname{d}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ &\leq c_{\mathsf{t},N-q,\mu}^{2} \big(|\mathring{\delta}\epsilon\,\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\operatorname{d}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} \big), \end{split}$$

completing the proof.

The same transformation technique or just repeating the previous arguments shows that Corollary 2.11, especially the Friedrichs/Poincaré type estimates, Corollary 2.14 and Lemma 3.1 hold for the other boundary condition placed on $\epsilon^{-1}\mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$ as well. More precisely, with μ as before and defining the (harmonic) Neumann forms by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{N},\epsilon}^q(\Omega) := \mathsf{D}_0^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1}\mathring{\Delta}_0^q(\Omega)$$



we have the following results.

Corollary 3.8 For all
$$\omega \in D^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega) \cap \mathcal{H}_{N,\epsilon}^q(\Omega)^{\perp_{L_{\epsilon}^{2,q}(\Omega)}}$$

$$\begin{split} |\omega|^2_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)} &\leq \tilde{c}^2_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,N-q-1,\mu} |\, \mathrm{d}\, \omega|^2_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} + c^2_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,N-q,\mu} |\, \mathring{\delta} \epsilon \, \omega|^2_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq c_{t,N-q,\mu} \big(|\, \mathrm{d}\, \omega|^2_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} + |\mathring{\delta} \epsilon \, \omega|^2_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \big)^{1/2} \end{split}$$

with $c_{t,N-q,\mu} = \max\{\tilde{c}_{d,t,N-q-1,\mu}, c_{d,t,N-q,\mu}\}$. Especially,

$$\begin{split} \forall\,\xi\in D^{q-1}(\Omega)\cap\mathring{\delta}\mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega) & |\xi|_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}\leq c_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,N-q,\mu}|\,\mathrm{d}\,\xi|_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)},\\ \forall\,\omega\in D^q(\Omega)\cap\epsilon^{-1}\mathring{\delta}\mathring{\Delta}^{q+1}(\Omega) & |\omega|_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}\leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,N-q-1,\mu}|\,\mathrm{d}\,\omega|_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)},\\ \forall\,\omega\in\epsilon^{-1}\mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)\cap\mathrm{d}\,D^{q-1}(\Omega) & |\omega|_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}\leq c_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,N-q,\mu}|\mathring{\delta}\epsilon\,\omega|_{L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)},\\ \forall\,\zeta\in\mathring{\Delta}^{q+1}(\Omega)\cap\mathrm{d}\,D^q(\Omega) & |\zeta|_{L^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}\leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathrm{d}},t,N-q-1,\mu}|\epsilon^{-1}\mathring{\delta}\zeta|_{L^{2,q}_{\epsilon}(\Omega)}. \end{split}$$

Corollary 3.9 It holds

$$\frac{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},N-q-1}}{\underline{\epsilon}} \leq \tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},N-q-1,\mu} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},N-q-1}\overline{\epsilon}, \qquad \frac{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},N-q}}{\overline{\epsilon}} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},N-q,\mu} \leq c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},\mathsf{t},N-q}\underline{\epsilon},$$

and

$$\begin{split} & \frac{\min\{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q-1},c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q}\}}{\hat{\epsilon}} \\ & \leq c_{t,N-q,\mu} = \max\{\tilde{c}_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q-1,\mu},c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q,\mu}\} \\ & \leq \max\{c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q-1},c_{\mathring{\mathbf{d}},t,N-q}\}\hat{\epsilon}. \end{split}$$

3.1 Some remarks

Remark 3.10 Our results extend also to all possibly non-convex polyhedra which allow the $H^{1,q}(\Omega)$ -regularity in Lemma 3.2 of the Maxwell spaces $\mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \Delta^q(\Omega)$ and $D^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$ or to domains whose boundaries consist of combinations of convex boundary parts and polygonal parts which allow the $H^{1,q}(\Omega)$ -regularity. Such domains exist, depending on the special type of the singularities, which are not allowed to by too pointy, see, e.g., [27,28]. It is well known that (3.1) even holds for $\omega \in H^{1,q}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{D}^q(\Omega)$ or $\omega \in H^{1,q}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$ if Ω is a polyhedron, since the unit normal is piecewise constant and hence the curvature is zero.

Remark 3.11 Let Ω be additionally convex and let us recall $c_{n,q} = c_{t,N-q}$ and (3.2), especially

$$c_{\mathsf{f}} = c_{\mathsf{t},0} = c_{\mathsf{n},N} \le c_{\mathsf{t},q}, c_{\mathsf{n},q} \le c_{\mathsf{t},N} = c_{\mathsf{n},0} = c_{\mathsf{p}} \le \frac{\mathrm{diam}(\Omega)}{\pi}.$$

- (i) In generall, we conjecture $c_f < c_{t,q}$, $c_{n,q} < c_p$ for $1 \le q \le N 1$.
- (ii) As a byproduct, by

$$0 < \mu_2 = \frac{1}{c_p^2} \le \frac{1}{c_{t,q}^2} \le \frac{1}{c_f^2} = \lambda_1$$

we have shown a new proof of the well known fact, that the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of the negative Laplacian λ_1 is not smaller than the second Neumann eigenvalue of the negative Laplacian μ_2 .



Remark 3.12 Our results extend to a certain class of non-convex domains, so-called one-chart domains, as well. For this, as before, let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded weak Lipschitz domain and let $\Xi \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded and convex domain, e.g., the unit cube or unit ball. For example, Ω could be an L-shaped domain or a Fichèra corner. Moreover, we assume that there exists an orientation preserving bi-Lipschitz transformation $\Phi : \Xi \to \Omega$ with inverse $\Psi := \Phi^{-1} : \Omega \to \Xi$.

Then for $\omega \in \mathring{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} \Delta^q(\Omega)$ we have

$$\Phi^*\omega \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Xi) \cap \mu^{-1}\Delta^q(\Xi), \qquad \mu := (-1)^{qN-1} * \Phi^* * \epsilon \Psi^*,$$

with

$$\mathring{d} \Phi^* \omega = \Phi^* \mathring{d} \omega, \qquad \delta \mu \Phi^* \omega = \pm * d \Phi^* * \epsilon \omega = * \Phi^* * \delta \epsilon \omega, \tag{3.3}$$

see Appendix C for a proof of (3.3) in the bi-Lipschitz case. By the transformation formula, straight forward estimates, which we will carry out in Appendix B as well, and Theorem 3.6 we get

$$|\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \leq c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \left(|\mathring{\mathsf{d}} \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^2 + |\delta \epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^2 \right)^{1/2},$$

where

$$c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \leq c_N^3 c_{\nabla\Phi}^3 c_{\Psi} \hat{\epsilon} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}$$

and $c_{\mathsf{P},\Xi}$ is the Poincaré constant for the convex domain Ξ, c_N depends just on N, and $c_{\nabla\Phi,\nabla\Phi}$ just on bounds for $\nabla\Phi$ and $\nabla\Psi$, see (B.4) in Appendix B for more details. These constants can be refined, if one takes a closer look at the actual dependence on q and special algebraic operations on $\nabla\Phi$ and $\nabla\Psi$. In Appendix B.1 we will present sharper estimates for the special case N=3 and q=1 of vector proxy fields $\vec{\omega}$.

Using a partition of unity, we can even extend our results to general bounded weak Lipschitz domains $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$.

Acknowledgements We cordially thank the anonymous referee for a very careful reading and valuable suggestions for improving the paper.

Appendix A: Proof of Lemma 3.2

By the *-operator it is sufficient to discuss, e.g., $\omega \in \mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$. For a proof we follow the nice book of Grisvard, see [7, Theorem 3.2.1.2, Theorem 3.2.1.3]. This proof has been carried out in [5, Corollary 3.6, Theorem 3.9] and [1, Theorem 2.17] for the Maxwell case and N=3. Our proof will avoid the misleading notion of traces and solutions of second order elliptic systems. Let us note that in [1, p. 834] the proof for $X_N(\Omega)$ is wrong. One cannot work in the space $V_T(\Omega_k)$ due to the solenoidal condition. Working in the space $X_T(\Omega_k)$ is needed, but this destroys their argument for the second order elliptic system for ζ . Our approach corrects these inconsistencies.

Let us pick a sequence of increasing, convex, and C^{∞} -smooth subdomains $(\Omega_n) \subset \Omega$ converging to Ω , i.e.,

$$\Omega_n \subset \overline{\Omega}_n \subset \Omega_{n+1} \subset \cdots \subset \Omega, \quad \operatorname{dist}(\Omega, \Omega_n) = \operatorname{dist}(\partial\Omega, \partial\Omega_n) \to 0,$$



see, e.g., [7, Lemma 3.2.1.1]. Of course, C^2 -smooth is also sufficient. For Ω_n we find $\zeta_n \in D^{q-1}(\Omega_n)$ such that for all $\varphi \in D^{q-1}(\Omega_n)$

$$\langle \zeta_n, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega_n)} = \langle \delta \omega, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_n)} + \langle \omega, \mathsf{d} \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_n)}, \tag{A.1}$$

which is a trivially well defined problem. Note $\langle \zeta_n, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega_n)} = \langle \zeta_n, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_n)} + \langle \mathsf{d} \zeta_n, \mathsf{d} \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_n)}$. Hence

$$\langle \omega - \mathrm{d} \zeta_n, \mathrm{d} \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_n)} = \langle \zeta_n - \delta \omega, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_n)}$$

for all $\varphi \in D^{q-1}(\Omega_n)$, showing by (2.11) that $\omega_n := \omega - d\zeta_n \in \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega_n)$ and $\delta\omega_n = \delta\omega - \zeta_n$. Moreover, $\omega_n \in D^q(\Omega_n)$ with $d\omega_n = d\omega$. By (1.20) we have $\omega_n \in H^{1,q+1}(\Omega_n)$ with

$$|\nabla \vec{\omega}_{n}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} \leq |\operatorname{d}\omega_{n}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} + |\delta\omega_{n}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} = |\operatorname{d}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} + |\delta\omega - \zeta_{n}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2}. \tag{A.2}$$

By setting $\varphi = \zeta_n$ in (A.1) we see

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \zeta_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} &= \langle \delta \omega, \zeta_{n} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_{n})} + \langle \omega, \operatorname{d} \zeta_{n} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_{n})} \\ &\leq \left| \delta \omega \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_{n})} \left| \zeta_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_{n})} + \left| \omega \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_{n})} \left| \operatorname{d} \zeta_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_{n})} \\ &\leq \left| \omega \right|_{\mathsf{\Delta}^{q}(\Omega_{n})} \left| \zeta_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega_{n})} \end{aligned} \tag{A.3}$$

and thus

$$|\zeta_n|_{\mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega_n)} \le |\omega|_{\Delta^q(\Omega_n)} \le |\omega|_{\Delta^q(\Omega)}. \tag{A.4}$$

Combining (A.2) and the equation part of (A.3) we observe

$$\begin{split} \left| \vec{\omega}_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{H}^{1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} &= \left| \omega_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} + \left| \nabla \vec{\omega}_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} \leq \left| \omega_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} + \left| \operatorname{d} \omega \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} \\ &+ \left| \delta \omega - \zeta_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} \\ &= \left| \omega \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} + \left| \operatorname{d} \zeta_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} + \left| \operatorname{d} \omega \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} + \left| \delta \omega \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} + \left| \zeta_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} \\ &- 2 \langle \omega, \operatorname{d} \zeta_{n} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_{n})} - 2 \langle \delta \omega, \zeta_{n} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_{n})} \\ &= \left| \omega \right|_{\mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega_{n}) \cap \Delta^{q}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} + \left| \zeta_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} - 2 \left| \zeta_{n} \right|_{\mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} \leq \left| \omega \right|_{\mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega_{n}) \cap \Delta^{q}(\Omega_{n})}^{2} \end{split}$$

and therefore

$$|\vec{\omega}_n|_{\mathsf{H}^1(\Omega_n)} \le |\omega|_{\mathsf{D}^q(\Omega_n) \cap \Delta^q(\Omega_n)} \le |\omega|_{\mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \Delta^q(\Omega)}. \tag{A.5}$$

Let us denote the extension by zero to Ω by $\tilde{\cdot}$. Then by (A.4) and (A.5) the sequences $(\tilde{\zeta}_n)$, (\widetilde{d}_{n}) , and $(\widetilde{\omega}_n)$, $(\widetilde{\nabla}\widetilde{\omega}_n)$ are bounded in $L^{2,q-1}(\Omega)$, $L^{2,q}(\Omega)$, resp. $L^2(\Omega)$ and we can extract weakly converging subsequences, again denoted by the index n, such that

$$\widetilde{\zeta}_{n} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} \zeta \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega), \quad \widetilde{\vec{\omega}}_{n} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \widehat{\vec{\omega}} \in \mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega),
(\widetilde{\mathsf{d}} \zeta_{n}) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \xi \in \mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega), \quad \widetilde{\nabla \vec{\omega}}_{n} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \widehat{\Theta} \in \mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega).$$

Let $\psi \in \mathring{\mathsf{C}}^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and n be large enough such that supp $\psi \subset \Omega_n$. Then $\psi \in \mathring{\mathsf{C}}^{\infty}(\Omega_n)$ and we calculate for $i = 1, \ldots, N$ and the ℓ -th component $\hat{\hat{\omega}}_{\ell}$ of $\hat{\hat{\omega}}$

$$\begin{split} &\langle \hat{\omega}_{\ell}, \partial_{i} \psi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \leftarrow \langle \tilde{\vec{\omega}}_{n,\ell}, \partial_{i} \psi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} = \langle \vec{\omega}_{n,\ell}, \partial_{i} \psi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{n})} \\ &= -\langle \partial_{i} \vec{\omega}_{n,\ell}, \psi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{n})} = -\langle \widetilde{\partial_{i}} \vec{\omega}_{n,\ell}, \psi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \rightarrow -\langle \hat{\Theta}_{i,\ell}, \psi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}, \end{split}$$



yielding $\hat{\vec{\omega}} \in \mathsf{H}^1(\Omega)$ and $\nabla \hat{\vec{\omega}} = \hat{\Theta}$. Analogously we obtain for $\phi \in \mathring{\mathsf{C}}^{\infty,q}(\Omega)$ with $\phi \in \mathring{\mathsf{C}}^{\infty,q}(\Omega_n)$ for n large enough

$$\begin{split} \langle \zeta, \delta \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} &\leftarrow \langle \widetilde{\zeta}_n, \delta \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} = \langle \zeta_n, \delta \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_n)} \\ &= -\langle \operatorname{d} \zeta_n, \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_n)} = -\langle \operatorname{d} \widetilde{\zeta}_n, \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \to -\langle \xi, \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}, \end{split}$$

showing $\zeta \in \mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega)$ and d $\zeta = \xi$. Moreover, for $\varphi \in \mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega) \subset \mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega_n)$ we have by (A.1)

$$\begin{split} &\langle \zeta, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega)} \\ &= \langle \zeta, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} + \langle \operatorname{d} \zeta, \operatorname{d} \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \leftarrow \langle \widetilde{\zeta}_n, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} + \langle \widetilde{\operatorname{d}} \widetilde{\zeta}_n, \operatorname{d} \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \\ &= \langle \zeta_n, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega_n)} = \langle \delta \omega, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega_n)} + \langle \omega, \operatorname{d} \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega_n)} \\ &\to \langle \delta \omega, \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)} + \langle \omega, \operatorname{d} \varphi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = 0, \end{split}$$

as $\omega \in \mathring{\Delta}^q(\Omega)$, where the last convergence follows by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem. For $\varphi = \zeta$ we get $|\zeta|_{\mathsf{D}^{q-1}(\Omega)} = 0$, i.e., $\zeta = 0$. Furthermore, we observe by (A.5)

$$\begin{split} |\vec{\hat{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{H}^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} &= \langle \vec{\hat{\omega}}, \vec{\hat{\omega}} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} + \langle \nabla \vec{\hat{\omega}}, \nabla \vec{\hat{\omega}} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \leftarrow \langle \vec{\hat{\omega}}, \tilde{\vec{\hat{\omega}}}_{n} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} + \langle \nabla \vec{\hat{\omega}}, \tilde{\nabla} \vec{\hat{\omega}}_{n} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &= \langle \vec{\hat{\omega}}, \vec{\omega}_{n} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{n})} + \langle \nabla \vec{\hat{\omega}}, \nabla \vec{\omega}_{n} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{n})} \leq |\vec{\hat{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{H}^{1}(\Omega_{n})} |\vec{\omega}_{n}|_{\mathsf{H}^{1}(\Omega_{n})} \\ &\leq |\vec{\hat{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{H}^{1}(\Omega)} |\omega|_{\mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega) \cap \Delta^{q}(\Omega)}, \end{split}$$

showing

$$|\hat{\hat{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{H}^{1}(\Omega)} \le |\omega|_{\mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega) \cap \Delta^{q}(\Omega)}.\tag{A.6}$$

Finally, we have $\omega = \omega_n + d \zeta_n$ in Ω_n , i.e., in Ω

$$\chi_{\Omega_n} \omega = \tilde{\omega}_n + \widetilde{\mathsf{d}} \, \zeta_n \xrightarrow{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \hat{\omega} + \mathsf{d} \, \zeta = \hat{\omega}.$$

On the other hand, by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem we see $\chi_{\Omega_n} \omega \to \omega$ in $L^{2,q}(\Omega)$. Thus $\omega = \hat{\omega} \in H^{1,q}(\Omega)$ and by (A.6)

$$|\omega|_{\mathsf{H}^{1,q}(\Omega)} = |\vec{\hat{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{H}^1(\Omega)} \le |\omega|_{\mathsf{D}^q(\Omega) \cap \Delta^q(\Omega)},$$

especially,

$$\left|\nabla \vec{\omega}\right|^2_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)} \leq \left|\operatorname{d}\omega\right|^2_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} + \left|\delta\omega\right|^2_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}.$$

Appendix B: Calculations for Remark 3.12

For a multi index I of length |I| = q (not necessarily ordered) it holds

$$\begin{split} \Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I &= \Phi^* (\mathrm{d} \, x^{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d} \, x^{i_q}) = (\Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, x^{i_1}) \wedge \dots \wedge (\Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, x^{i_q}) \\ &= (\mathrm{d} \, \Phi_{i_1}) \wedge \dots \wedge (\mathrm{d} \, \Phi_{i_q}) = \mathrm{d} \, \Phi^I \\ &= \sum_{j_1, \dots, j_q} \partial_{j_1} \Phi_{i_1} \dots \partial_{j_q} \Phi_{i_q} \, \mathrm{d} \, x^{j_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d} \, x^{j_q} = \sum_{|J| = q} \partial_J \Phi_I \, \mathrm{d} \, x^J \end{split}$$



and especially

$$\Phi^*(\mathrm{d}\,x^1\wedge\cdots\wedge\mathrm{d}\,x^N)=\det(\nabla\Phi)\,\mathrm{d}\,x^1\wedge\cdots\wedge\mathrm{d}\,x^N.$$

For multi indices I, J of length q we have

$$(\Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I) \wedge *(\Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, x^J) = \sum_{|K|=|L|=q} \partial_K \Phi_I \partial_L \Phi_J \, \mathrm{d} \, x^K \wedge * \, \mathrm{d} \, x^L$$
$$= \sum_{|K|=q} (-1)^{\sigma_K} \partial_K \Phi_I \partial_K \Phi_J \, \mathrm{d} \, x^1 \wedge \dots \wedge \, \mathrm{d} \, x^N.$$

Hence for

$$\omega = \sum_I \omega_I \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I, \quad \Phi^* \omega = \sum_I \tilde{\omega}_I \, \Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I, \quad \tilde{\omega} := \sum_I \tilde{\omega}_I \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I, \qquad \tilde{\omega}_I := \omega_I \circ \Phi$$

we compute

$$* |\omega|^2 = \omega \wedge * \bar{\omega} = \sum_{I,J} \omega_I \bar{\omega}_J \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I \wedge * \, \mathrm{d} \, x^J = \sum_I \omega_I \bar{\omega}_I \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I \wedge * \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I$$

$$= |\vec{\omega}|^2 \, \mathrm{d} \, x^1 \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d} \, x^N,$$

$$* |\Phi^* \omega|^2 = \Phi^* \omega \wedge * \Phi^* \bar{\omega} = \sum_{I,J} \tilde{\omega}_I \tilde{\bar{\omega}}_J (\Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, x^I) \wedge * (\Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, x^J)$$

$$= \sum_{I,J} \sum_{|K|=a} (-1)^{\sigma_K} \tilde{\omega}_I \tilde{\bar{\omega}}_J \partial_K \Phi_I \partial_K \Phi_J \, \mathrm{d} \, x^1 \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d} \, x^N,$$

and thus

$$\begin{split} |\vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} &= |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^{2} = \int_{\Omega} * |\omega|^{2} = \int_{\Omega} |\vec{\omega}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x^{1} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{N} \\ &= \int_{\Xi} |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^{2} \Phi^{*}(\mathrm{d}x^{1} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{N}) \\ &= \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x^{1} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{N} = \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) * |\tilde{\omega}|^{2} = \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^{2}, \\ |\overrightarrow{\Phi^{*}\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Xi)}^{2} &= |\Phi^{*}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}^{2} = \int_{\Xi} * |\Phi^{*}\omega|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{I,J} \sum_{|K|=q} (-1)^{\sigma_{K}} \int_{\Xi} \tilde{\omega}_{I} \tilde{\tilde{\omega}}_{J} \partial_{K} \Phi_{I} \partial_{K} \Phi_{J} \, \mathrm{d}x^{1} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{N} \\ &= \sum_{I,J} \sum_{|K|=q} (-1)^{\sigma_{K}} \int_{\Xi} \tilde{\omega}_{I} \tilde{\tilde{\omega}}_{J} \partial_{K} \Phi_{I} \partial_{K} \Phi_{J}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, we get

$$\begin{split} \min_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) \, |\tilde{\omega}|^2_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)} &\leq |\omega|^2_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \leq \max_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) \, |\tilde{\omega}|^2_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}, \\ |\Phi^* \omega|^2_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)} &\leq N^q \binom{N}{q}^2 \max_{\Xi} |\nabla \Phi|^{2q} \, |\tilde{\omega}|^2_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}, \end{split}$$



where the second estimate is quite rough. Combing both we see

$$|\Phi^*\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}^2 \le c_{q,N,\nabla\Phi}|\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2, \qquad c_{q,N,\nabla\Phi} := N^q \binom{N}{q}^2 \frac{\max_{\Xi} |\nabla\Phi|^{2q}}{\min_{\Xi} \det(\nabla\Phi)}, \tag{B.1}$$

$$|\Psi^*\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2 \le c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi}|\zeta|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}^2, \qquad c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi} := N^q \binom{N}{q}^2 \frac{\max_{\Omega} |\nabla\Psi|^{2q}}{\min_{\Omega} \det(\nabla\Psi)} \tag{B.2}$$

and with $\omega = \Psi^* \Phi^* \omega$

$$\left|\omega\right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi}\left|\Phi^{*}\omega\right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}^{2}, \qquad \left|\zeta\right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}^{2} \leq c_{q,N,\nabla\Phi}\left|\Psi^{*}\zeta\right|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^{2}.$$

Now we calculate by Theorem 3.6

$$\begin{split} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^{2} &\leq c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi} |\Phi^{*}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}^{2} \leq c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}^{2} \, \hat{\mu}^{2} \big(|\mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \Phi^{*}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Xi)}^{2} + |\delta\mu\Phi^{*}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Xi)}^{2} \big) \\ &= c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}^{2} \, \hat{\mu}^{2} \big(|\Phi^{*} \, \mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Xi)}^{2} + |\Phi^{*} * \delta\epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q+1}(\Xi)}^{2} \big) \\ &\leq c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}^{2} \, \hat{\mu}^{2} \big(c_{q+1,N,\nabla\Phi} |\mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} + c_{N-q+1,N,\nabla\Phi} |\delta\epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2} \big) \\ &\leq c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi} \max\{ c_{q+1,N,\nabla\Phi}, c_{N-q+1,N,\nabla\Phi} \} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}^{2} \, \hat{\mu}^{2} \big(|\mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\delta\epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2} \big) \\ &\leq c_{N}^{4} c_{\nabla\Phi,\nabla\Psi}^{4} \, \hat{\mu}^{2} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}^{2} \big(|\mathring{\mathrm{d}} \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\delta\epsilon \, \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}^{2} \big), \end{split} \tag{B.3}$$

i.e.,

$$c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \le c_N^2 c_{\nabla\Phi,\nabla\Psi}^2 \,\hat{\mu} \, c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi},$$

with very rough constants

$$c_{N} := N^{N/2} N!, \qquad c_{\nabla \Phi, \nabla \Psi} := \frac{\max \left[\max_{\Xi} |\nabla \Phi|, \max_{\Omega} |\nabla \Psi|, 1 \right]^{N}}{\min \left[\min_{\Xi} \sqrt{\det(\nabla \Phi)}, \min_{\Omega} \sqrt{\det(\nabla \Psi)}, 1 \right]}. \tag{B.4}$$

So, it remains to estimate $\hat{\mu}$. For this we estimate for $\Phi^*\omega \in L^{2,q}(\Xi)$

$$\begin{split} \langle \mu \; \Phi^* \omega, \; \Phi^* \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)} &= \pm \langle * \; \Phi^* * \epsilon \; \omega, \; \Phi^* \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)} = \pm \langle \Phi^* * \epsilon \; \omega, * \; \Phi^* \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q}(\Xi)} \\ &= \pm \int_{\Xi} (\Phi^* * \epsilon \; \omega) \wedge (\Phi^* \bar{\omega}) \\ &= \pm \int_{\Omega} * \epsilon \; \omega \wedge \bar{\omega} = \langle \epsilon \; \omega, \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \leq \bar{\epsilon}^2 |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2 \\ &\leq \bar{\epsilon}^2 c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi} |\Phi^* \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}^2, \\ \langle \mu \; \Phi^* \omega, \; \Phi^* \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)} &= \langle \epsilon \; \omega, \omega \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \geq \underline{\epsilon}^{-2} |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}^2 \\ &\geq \frac{1}{\underline{\epsilon}^2 c_{q,N,\nabla\Phi}} |\Phi^* \omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)}^2, \end{split}$$

and observe

$$\hat{\mu} \leq \max\{\overline{\epsilon}\sqrt{c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi}},\underline{\epsilon}\sqrt{c_{q,N,\nabla\Phi}}\} \leq \hat{\epsilon}\max\{\sqrt{c_{q,N,\nabla\Psi}},\sqrt{c_{q,N,\nabla\Phi}}\} \leq \hat{\epsilon}\,c_N\,c_{\nabla\Phi,\nabla\Psi}.$$

Finally, this shows

$$c_{\mathsf{t},q,\epsilon} \leq c_N^3 c_{\nabla\Phi,\nabla\Psi}^3 \,\hat{\epsilon} \, c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}.$$



B.1. Classical vector analysis

Some of the latter estimates are very rough. Let us take a closer look at the classical case of vector analysis, i.e., at the special case of N=3 and q=1. By (3.3), see also Appendix C for more details and a rigorous proof, we know that ω in $D^q(\Omega)$ resp. $\mathring{D}^q(\Omega)$ implies $\Phi^*\omega$ in $D^q(\Omega)$ resp. $\mathring{D}^q(\Omega)$ with $d\Phi^*\omega = \Phi^*d\omega$. For N=3 and q=1 this means for the vector proxy field $\vec{\omega} \in \mathring{H}(\text{curl}, \Omega) \cong \mathring{D}^1(\Omega)$ that

$$\overrightarrow{\Phi^*\omega} = \nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \in \mathring{\mathsf{H}}(\mathrm{curl}, \, \Xi) \cong \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^1(\Xi)$$

with

$$\operatorname{curl}(\nabla \Phi \, \vec{\hat{\omega}}) = \overrightarrow{\operatorname{d}} \, \Phi^* \omega = \overrightarrow{\Phi^* \operatorname{d}} \, \omega = \operatorname{adj}^\top (\nabla \Phi) \, \widetilde{\operatorname{curl}} \, \vec{\omega}, \tag{B.5}$$

where $\operatorname{adj}(A)$ denotes the adjunct matrix of $A \in \mathbb{R}^{3\times 3}$. If A is invertible it holds $\operatorname{adj}(A) = (\det A)A^{-1}$. For q = N - 1 = 2 we have for the vector proxy field $\vec{\omega} \in \mathsf{H}(\operatorname{div}, \Omega) \cong \mathsf{D}^2(\Omega)$ that

$$\overrightarrow{\Phi^*\omega} = \operatorname{adj}^\top(\nabla\Phi)\,\vec{\tilde{\omega}} \in \mathsf{H}(\operatorname{div},\,\Xi) \cong \mathsf{D}^2(\Xi)$$

with

$$\operatorname{div}\left(\operatorname{adj}^{\top}(\nabla\Phi)\,\vec{\tilde{\omega}}\right) = \overrightarrow{\Phi^*\omega} = \overrightarrow{\Phi^*\,\mathrm{d}\,\omega} = \operatorname{det}(\nabla\Phi)\widetilde{\operatorname{div}\,\tilde{\omega}}.$$

Thus for $\vec{\omega} \in \mathring{H}(\text{curl}, \Omega) \cap \epsilon^{-1} H(\text{div}, \Omega)$ we have

$$\nabla\Phi\,\vec{\tilde{\omega}}\in \mathring{\mathsf{H}}(\mathrm{curl},\,\Xi)\cap\mu^{-1}\mathsf{H}(\mathrm{div},\,\Xi),\qquad \mu:=\frac{1}{\det(\nabla\Phi)}\,\mathrm{adj}^\top(\nabla\Phi)\,\tilde{\epsilon}\,\,\mathrm{adj}(\nabla\Phi),$$

with (B.5) and

$$\operatorname{div}(\mu \nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}) = \operatorname{div} \big(\operatorname{adj}^\top (\nabla \Phi) \, \tilde{\epsilon} \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \big) = \operatorname{det}(\nabla \Phi) \widetilde{\operatorname{div}} \, \epsilon \, \vec{\omega}.$$

Now we can compute (B.3) more carefully by

$$\begin{split} |\vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 &= \int_{\Omega} |\vec{\omega}|^2 = \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) |\vec{\omega}|^2 \leq \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) \big| (\nabla \Phi)^{-1} \big|^2 |\nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^2 \\ &= \int_{\Xi} \frac{1}{\det(\nabla \Phi)} \big| \operatorname{adj}(\nabla \Phi) \big|^2 |\nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^2 \leq \hat{c}_{\nabla \Phi}^2 |\nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2 \\ &\leq \hat{c}_{\nabla \Phi}^2 c_{\mathsf{m,t,\mu,\Xi}}^2 \bigg(\big| \operatorname{curl}(\nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}) \big|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2 + \big| \operatorname{div}(\mu \nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}) \big|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2 \bigg) \\ &= \hat{c}_{\nabla \Phi}^2 c_{\mathsf{m,t,\mu,\Xi}}^2 \bigg(\big| \operatorname{adj}^\top (\nabla \Phi) \widetilde{\operatorname{curl}} \vec{\omega} \big|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2 + \big| \det(\nabla \Phi) \widetilde{\operatorname{div}} \epsilon \, \vec{\omega} \big|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2 \bigg) \\ &= \hat{c}_{\nabla \Phi}^2 c_{\mathsf{m,t,\mu,\Xi}}^2 \bigg(\int_{\Xi} \big| \operatorname{adj}^\top (\nabla \Phi) \widetilde{\operatorname{curl}} \vec{\omega} \big|^2 + \int_{\Xi} \big| \det(\nabla \Phi) \widetilde{\operatorname{div}} \epsilon \, \vec{\omega} \big|^2 \bigg) \end{split}$$



$$\begin{split} &\leq \hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}^2 c_{\mathsf{m,t},\mu,\Xi}^2 \bigg(\hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}^2 \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla\Phi) |\widecheck{\mathrm{curl}}\, \vec{\omega}|^2 + c_{\det(\nabla\Phi)}^2 \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla\Phi) |\widecheck{\mathrm{div}}\, \epsilon\, \vec{\omega}|^2 \bigg) \\ &= \hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}^2 c_{\mathsf{m,t},\mu,\Xi}^2 \bigg(\hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}^2 |\operatorname{curl}\, \vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 + c_{\det(\nabla\Phi)}^2 |\operatorname{div}\, \epsilon\, \vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 \bigg), \end{split} \tag{B.6}$$

where

$$\begin{split} c_{\det(\nabla \Phi)} &:= \max_{\Xi} \sqrt{\det(\nabla \Phi)}, \\ \hat{c}_{\nabla \Phi} &:= \max_{\Xi} \frac{\left| \operatorname{adj}(\nabla \Phi) \right|}{\sqrt{\det(\nabla \Phi)}} = \max_{\Xi} \sqrt{\det(\nabla \Phi)} \left| (\nabla \Phi)^{-1} \right| \leq c_{\det(\nabla \Phi)} \max_{\Xi} \left| (\nabla \Phi)^{-1} \right|. \end{split}$$

Therefore, we have

$$c_{\mathsf{m,t},\epsilon} \leq \hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi} \max\{\hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}, c_{\det(\nabla\Phi)}\}c_{\mathsf{m,t},\mu,\Xi}, \qquad c_{\mathsf{m,t},\mu,\Xi} \leq \hat{\mu} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi},$$

and it remains to estimate $\hat{\mu}$. For this we compute for $\vec{\tilde{\omega}} \in L^2(\Xi)$

$$\begin{split} \langle \mu \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Xi)} &= \int_{\Xi} \mu \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \cdot \vec{\tilde{\tilde{\omega}}} = \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) \big((\nabla \Phi)^{-\mathsf{T}} \tilde{\epsilon} \, (\nabla \Phi)^{-1} \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \big) \cdot \vec{\tilde{\tilde{\omega}}} \\ &= \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) \big(\tilde{\epsilon} \, (\nabla \Phi)^{-1} \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \big) \cdot (\nabla \Phi)^{-1} \vec{\tilde{\tilde{\omega}}} \\ &= \int_{\Omega} (\epsilon \nabla \Psi \, \vec{\omega}) \cdot \nabla \Psi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} = \langle \epsilon \nabla \Psi \, \vec{\omega}, \nabla \Psi \, \vec{\omega} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \end{split}$$

and estimate

$$\begin{split} \langle \mu \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)} & \leq \overline{\epsilon}^2 |\nabla \Psi \, \vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 = \overline{\epsilon}^2 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \Psi \, \vec{\omega}|^2 = \overline{\epsilon}^2 \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) |(\nabla \Phi)^{-1} \vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^2 \\ & \leq \overline{\epsilon}^2 \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) |(\nabla \Phi)^{-1}|^2 |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^2 \leq \overline{\epsilon}^2 \hat{c}_{\nabla \Phi}^2 \int_{\Xi} |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^2 = \overline{\epsilon}^2 \hat{c}_{\nabla \Phi}^2 |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2, \\ \langle \mu \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)} & \geq \underline{\epsilon}^{-2} |\nabla \Psi \, \vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 = \underline{\epsilon}^{-2} \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) |(\nabla \Phi)^{-1} \vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^2 \\ & \geq \underline{\epsilon}^{-2} \int_{\Xi} \frac{\det(\nabla \Phi)}{|\nabla \Phi|^2} |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^2 \geq \underline{\epsilon}^{-2} \check{c}_{\nabla \Phi}^{-2} \int_{\Xi} |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^2 = \frac{1}{\epsilon^2 \check{c}_{\nabla \Phi}^2} |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2, \end{split}$$

where

$$\check{c}_{\nabla\Phi} := \max_{\Xi} \frac{|\nabla\Phi|}{\sqrt{\det(\nabla\Phi)}} = \frac{1}{\min_{\Xi} \frac{\sqrt{\det(\nabla\Phi)}}{|\nabla\Phi|}}.$$

Finally, we obtain

$$\hat{\mu} \leq \max\{\bar{\epsilon}\,\hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}, \epsilon\,\check{c}_{\nabla\Phi}\} \leq \hat{\epsilon}\,\max\{\hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}, \check{c}_{\nabla\Phi}\}$$

and hence

$$c_{\mathsf{m},\mathsf{t},\epsilon} \leq \hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi} \max\{\hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}, c_{\mathsf{det}(\nabla\Phi)}\} \max\{\hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}, \check{c}_{\nabla\Phi}\} \hat{\epsilon} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}$$

$$\leq \max\{\hat{c}_{\nabla\Phi}, \check{c}_{\nabla\Phi}, c_{\mathsf{det}(\nabla\Phi)}\}^3 \hat{\epsilon} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}. \tag{B.7}$$

Especially for $\Phi(x) := r x$ with r > 0 we have

$$\begin{split} |\vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 &= \int_{\Omega} |\vec{\omega}|^2 = \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^2 = r |\nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2 \\ &\leq r c_{\mathsf{m,t},\mu,\Xi}^2 \bigg(\big| \operatorname{curl}(\nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}) \big|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2 + \big| \operatorname{div}(\mu \nabla \Phi \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}) \big|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Xi)}^2 \bigg) \end{split}$$



$$\begin{split} &= r c_{\mathsf{m,t},\mu,\Xi}^2 \bigg(\int_{\Xi} \big| \operatorname{adj}^\top (\nabla \Phi) \widetilde{\operatorname{curl} \vec{\omega}} \big|^2 + \int_{\Xi} \big| \operatorname{det} (\nabla \Phi) \widetilde{\operatorname{div} \epsilon \vec{\omega}} \big|^2 \bigg) \\ &= r c_{\mathsf{m,t},\mu,\Xi}^2 \bigg(r \int_{\Xi} \operatorname{det} (\nabla \Phi) |\widetilde{\operatorname{curl} \vec{\omega}}|^2 + r^3 \int_{\Xi} \operatorname{det} (\nabla \Phi) |\widetilde{\operatorname{div} \epsilon \vec{\omega}}|^2 \bigg) \\ &= r^2 c_{\mathsf{m,t},\mu,\Xi}^2 \bigg(|\operatorname{curl} \vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 + r^2 |\operatorname{div} \epsilon \vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^2(\Omega)}^2 \bigg) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \langle \mu \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Xi)} &= \int_{\Xi} \mu \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \cdot \vec{\tilde{\tilde{\omega}}} = \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) \big((\nabla \Phi)^{-\top} \tilde{\epsilon} \, (\nabla \Phi)^{-1} \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \big) \cdot \vec{\tilde{\tilde{\omega}}} \\ &= r^{-2} \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) (\tilde{\epsilon} \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}) \cdot \vec{\tilde{\tilde{\omega}}} \\ &= r^{-2} \int_{\Omega} (\epsilon \, \vec{\omega}) \cdot \vec{\tilde{\omega}} = r^{-2} \langle \epsilon \, \vec{\omega}, \, \vec{\omega} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}, \\ \langle \mu \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Xi)} &\leq r^{-2} \overline{\epsilon}^{2} |\vec{\omega}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} = r^{-2} \overline{\epsilon}^{2} \int_{\Xi} \det(\nabla \Phi) |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|^{2} = r \overline{\epsilon}^{2} |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Xi)}^{2}, \\ \langle \mu \, \vec{\tilde{\omega}}, \vec{\tilde{\omega}} \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Xi)} &\geq r \underline{\epsilon}^{-2} |\vec{\tilde{\omega}}|_{\mathsf{L}^{2}(\Xi)}^{2}, \end{split}$$

i.e., $\hat{\mu} \leq \max\{\sqrt{r}\overline{\epsilon}, \underline{\epsilon}/\sqrt{r}\} \leq \frac{\max\{r, 1\}}{\sqrt{r}}\hat{\epsilon}$, which shows

$$c_{\mathsf{m,t},\epsilon} \le r \max\{1, r\} c_{\mathsf{m,t},\mu,\Xi} \le r \max\{1, r\} \hat{\mu} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi} \le \sqrt{r} \max\{1, r\}^2 \hat{\epsilon} c_{\mathsf{p},\Xi}.$$

On the other hand, (B.7) gives with $c_{\det(\nabla \Phi)} = r^{3/2}$, $\hat{c}_{\nabla \Phi} = \sqrt{3}r^{1/2}$, $\check{c}_{\nabla \Phi} = \sqrt{3}r^{-1/2}$ the less sharp estimate

$$c_{\mathsf{m,t,\epsilon}} \le 3\sqrt{3}r^{3/2} \max\{1, r^2\}^3 \hat{\epsilon} c_{\mathsf{p,\Xi}}.$$

Appendix C: Proof of (3.3) in the Bi-Lipschitz case

C.1. Without boundary conditions

For this, let $\omega = \sum_{I} \omega_{I} dx^{I} \in \mathsf{D}^{q}(\Omega)$. We have to prove $\Phi^{*}\omega \in \mathsf{D}^{q}(\Xi)$ with $d\Phi^{*}\omega = \Phi^{*} d\omega$. Let us first assume $\omega \in \mathring{\mathsf{C}}^{\infty,q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$, i.e., $\omega_{I} \in \mathring{\mathsf{C}}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ for all I. By Appendix B we have

$$d \Phi_{j} = \sum_{i} \partial_{i} \Phi_{j} d x^{i},$$

$$\Phi^{*} \omega = \sum_{I} \tilde{\omega}_{I} \Phi^{*} d x^{I} = \sum_{I} \tilde{\omega}_{I} (d \Phi_{i_{1}}) \wedge \cdots \wedge (d \Phi_{i_{q}}),$$

$$d \omega = \sum_{I,j} \partial_{j} \omega_{I} (d x_{j}) \wedge (d x^{I}).$$

By Rademacher's theorem we know that $\tilde{\omega}_I = \omega_I \circ \Phi$ and Φ_j belong to $\mathsf{C}^{0,1}(\Xi) \subset \mathsf{H}^1(\Xi)$ and that the chain rule holds, i.e., $\partial_i \tilde{\omega}_I = \sum_j \widetilde{\partial_j \omega_I} \partial_i \Phi_j$. As $\Phi_j \in \mathsf{H}^1(\Xi)$ we get $\mathrm{d} \Phi_j \in \mathsf{D}^1_0(\Xi)$ by

$$\langle d \Phi_i, \delta \varphi \rangle_{L^{2,1}(\Xi)} = -\langle \Phi_i, \delta \delta \varphi \rangle_{L^{2,0}(\Xi)} = 0$$



for all $\varphi \in \mathring{C}^{\infty,2}(\Xi)$. Thus by definition we see

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{d} \Phi^* \omega &= \sum_I (\operatorname{d} \tilde{\omega}_I) \wedge (\operatorname{d} \Phi_{i_1}) \wedge \dots \wedge (\operatorname{d} \Phi_{i_q}) \\ &= \sum_{I,i} \partial_i \tilde{\omega}_I (\operatorname{d} x^i) \wedge (\operatorname{d} \Phi_{i_1}) \wedge \dots \wedge (\operatorname{d} \Phi_{i_q}) \\ &= \sum_{I,i,j} \widetilde{\partial_j \omega_I} \partial_i \Phi_j (\operatorname{d} x^i) \wedge (\operatorname{d} \Phi_{i_1}) \wedge \dots \wedge (\operatorname{d} \Phi_{i_q}) \\ &= \sum_{I,i} \widetilde{\partial_j \omega_I} (\operatorname{d} \Phi_j) \wedge (\operatorname{d} \Phi_{i_1}) \wedge \dots \wedge (\operatorname{d} \Phi_{i_q}). \end{split}$$

On the other hand it holds

$$\Phi^* d\omega = \sum_{I,j} \widetilde{\partial_j \omega_I} (\Phi^* dx_j) \wedge (\Phi^* dx^I) = \sum_{I,j} \widetilde{\partial_j \omega_I} (d\Phi_j) \wedge (d\Phi_{i_1}) \wedge \cdots \wedge (d\Phi_{i_q}).$$

Therefore, $\Phi^*\omega \in D^q(\Xi)$ with $d\Phi^*\omega = \Phi^*d\omega$. For general $\omega \in D^q(\Omega)$ we pick $\phi \in \mathring{C}^{\infty,q+1}(\Xi)$. The first part of the proof (for $\omega = *\phi$ and $\Phi = \Psi$) shows $\Psi^**\phi \in D^{N-q-1}(\Omega)$ with $d\Psi^**\phi = \Psi^*d*\phi$. As supp $*\Psi^**\phi$ is a compact subset of Ω , standard mollification yields a sequence $(\Phi_n) \subset \mathring{C}^{\infty,q+1}(\Omega)$ with $\Phi_n \to *\Psi^**\phi$ in $\Delta^{q+1}(\Omega)$. Then

$$\begin{split} \langle \Phi^* \omega, \delta \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)} \\ &= \int_{\Xi} \Phi^* \omega \wedge * \delta \phi = \pm \int_{\Xi} \Phi^* \omega \wedge \Phi^* \Psi^* \, \mathrm{d} * \phi = \pm \int_{\Xi} \Phi^* (\omega \wedge \Psi^* \, \mathrm{d} * \phi) \\ &= \pm \int_{\Omega} \omega \wedge \Psi^* \, \mathrm{d} * \phi = \pm \int_{\Omega} \omega \wedge \mathrm{d} \, \Psi^* * \phi = \pm \langle \omega, \delta * \Psi^* * \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} \\ &\uparrow \ \pm \langle \omega, \delta \Phi_n \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)} = \pm \langle \mathrm{d} \, \omega, \Phi_n \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} \\ &\downarrow \ \pm \langle \mathrm{d} \, \omega, * \Psi^* * \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)} = \pm \int_{\Omega} \mathrm{d} \, \omega \wedge \Psi^* * \phi \\ &= \pm \int_{\Xi} \Phi^* (\mathrm{d} \, \omega \wedge \Psi^* * \phi) = \pm \int_{\Xi} (\Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, \omega) \wedge * \phi = - \langle \Phi^* \, \mathrm{d} \, \omega, \phi \rangle_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Xi)} \end{split}$$

and hence $\Phi^*\omega \in \mathsf{D}^q(\Xi)$ with $\mathrm{d}\,\Phi^*\omega = \Phi^*\,\mathrm{d}\,\omega$. Finally, for $\omega \in \epsilon^{-1}\Delta^q(\Omega)$ we have $\epsilon\,\omega \in \Delta^q(\Omega)$ and $*\epsilon\,\omega \in \mathsf{D}^{N-q}(\Omega)$. Therefore, $\Phi^**\epsilon\,\omega \in \mathsf{D}^{N-q}(\Xi)$ and $\mathrm{d}\,\Phi^**\epsilon\,\omega = \Phi^*\,\mathrm{d}\,\epsilon\,\omega = \pm\Phi^**\delta\,\epsilon\,\omega$ by the latter considerations. Hence

$$*\Phi^* * \delta \epsilon \omega = \pm * d\Phi^* * \epsilon \omega = \pm \delta(\underbrace{*\Phi^* * \epsilon \Psi^*}_{=\pm \mu}) \Phi^* \omega$$

and $\mu \Phi^* \omega \in \Delta^q(\Xi)$. By (B.1) we see

$$|\Phi^*\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Xi)} \leq c \, |\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q}(\Omega)}, \qquad |\operatorname{d}\Phi^*\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Xi)} = |\Phi^*\operatorname{d}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Xi)} \leq c \, |\operatorname{d}\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q+1}(\Omega)}$$

and

$$|\delta\mu\;\Phi^*\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Xi)} = |\operatorname{d}\Phi^**\epsilon\;\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q+1}(\Xi)} \leq c\;|\operatorname{d}*\epsilon\;\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,N-q+1}(\Omega)} = c\;|\delta\epsilon\;\omega|_{\mathsf{L}^{2,q-1}(\Omega)}.$$



C.2. With boundary conditions

Let $\omega \in \mathring{D}^q(\Omega)$ and $(\omega_n) \subset \mathring{C}^{\infty,q}(\Omega)$ with $\omega_n \to \omega$ in $D^q(\Omega)$. By Appendix C.1 we know $\Phi^*\omega$, $\Phi^*\omega_n \in D^q(\Xi)$ with $d\Phi^*\omega_n = \Phi^*d\omega_n$ as well as $d\Phi^*\omega = \Phi^*d\omega$. Since $\Phi^*\omega_n = \sum_I \tilde{\omega}_{n,I} \Phi^*dx^I$ holds, $\Phi^*\omega_n$ has compact support in Ξ . By standard mollification we see $\Phi^*\omega_n \in \mathring{D}^q(\Xi)$. Moreover, $\Phi^*\omega_n \to \Phi^*\omega$ in $D^q(\Xi)$ as $\Phi^*\omega_n \to \Phi^*\omega$ in $L^{2,q}(\Xi)$ and

$$d \Phi^* \omega_n = \Phi^* d \omega_n \rightarrow \Phi^* d \omega = d \Phi^* \omega$$

in L^{2,q+1}(Ξ) by (B.1). Therefore $\Phi^*\omega \in \mathring{\mathsf{D}}^q(\Xi)$ with $\mathring{\mathsf{d}} \Phi^*\omega = \Phi^*\mathring{\mathsf{d}} \omega$.

References

- Amrouche, C., Bernardi, C., Dauge, M., Girault, V.: Vector potentials in three-dimensional non-smooth domains. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 21(9), 823–864 (1998)
- Bao, G., Zhou, Z.: An inverse problem for scattering by a doubly periodic structure. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 350(10), 4089–4103 (1998)
- Bauer, S., Pauly, D., Schomburg, M.: The Maxwell compactness property in bounded weak Lipschitz domains with mixed boundary conditions. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 48(4), 2912–2943 (2016)
- Filonov, N.: On an inequality for the eigenvalues of the Dirichlet and Neumann problems for the Laplace operator. St. Petersburg Math. J. 16(2), 413–416 (2005)
- Girault, V., Raviart, P.-A.: Finite element methods for Navier–Stokes equations: theory and algorithms.
 Springer (Series in Computational Mathematics), Heidelberg (1986)
- Gol'dshtein, V., Mitrea, I., Mitrea, M.: Hodge decompositions with mixed boundary conditions and applications to partial differential equations on Lipschitz manifolds. J. Math. Sci. (N. Y.) 172(3), 347– 400 (2011)
- Grisvard, P.: Elliptic problems in nonsmooth domains. Pitman (Advanced Publishing Program), Boston (1985)
- Jakab, T., Mitrea, I., Mitrea, M.: On the regularity of differential forms satisfying mixed boundary conditions in a class of Lipschitz domains. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 58(5), 2043–2071 (2009)
- 9. Jochmann, F.: A compactness result for vector fields with divergence and curl in $L^q(\Omega)$ involving mixed boundary conditions. Appl. Anal. **66**, 189–203 (1997)
- Kuhn, P., Pauly, D.: Regularity results for generalized electro-magnetic problems. Analysis (Munich) 30(3), 225–252 (2010)
- Leis, R.: Zur Theorie elektromagnetischer Schwingungen in anisotropen inhomogenen Medien. Math. Z. 106, 213–224 (1968)
- 12. Leis, R.: Initial boundary value problems in mathematical physics. Teubner, Stuttgart (1986)
- Mitrea, M.: Dirichlet integrals and Gaffney-Friedrichs inequalities in convex domains. Forum Math. 13(4), 531–567 (2001)
- Pauly, D.: Low frequency asymptotics for time-harmonic generalized Maxwell equations in nonsmooth exterior domains. Adv. Math. Sci. Appl. 16(2), 591–622 (2006)
- Pauly, D.: Generalized electro-magneto statics in nonsmooth exterior domains. Analysis (Munich) 27(4), 425–464 (2007)
- Pauly, D.: Complete low frequency asymptotics for time-harmonic generalized Maxwell equations in nonsmooth exterior domains. Asymptot. Anal. 60(3–4), 125–184 (2008)
- 17. Pauly, D.: Hodge-Helmholtz decompositions of weighted Sobolev spaces in irregular exterior domains with inhomogeneous and anisotropic media. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 31, 1509–1543 (2008)
- Pauly, D.: On constants in Maxwell inequalities for bounded and convex domains. Zapiski POMI 435, 46–54 (2014)
- Pauly, D.: On constants in Maxwell inequalities for bounded and convex domains. J. Math. Sci. (N. Y.) 210(6), 787–792 (2015)
- Pauly, D.: On Maxwell's and Poincaré's constants. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. S 8(3), 607–618 (2015)
- 21. Pauly, D.: On the Maxwell constants in 3D. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 40(2), 435–447 (2017)
- Picard, R.: Randwertaufgaben der verallgemeinerten Potentialtheorie. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 3, 218– 228 (1981)



- Picard, R.: On the boundary value problems of electro- and magnetostatics. Proc. R. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 92, 165–174 (1982)
- Picard, R.: An elementary proof for a compact imbedding result in generalized electromagnetic theory. Math. Z. 187, 151–164 (1984)
- Picard, R.: Some decomposition theorems and their applications to non-linear potential theory and Hodge theory. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 12, 35–53 (1990)
- Picard, R., Weck, N., Witsch, K.-J.: Time-harmonic Maxwell equations in the exterior of perfectly conducting, irregular obstacles. Analysis (Munich) 21, 231–263 (2001)
- Saranen, J.: Über das Verhalten der Lösungen der Maxwellschen Randwertaufgabe in Gebieten mit Kegelspitzen. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 2(2), 235–250 (1980)
- Saranen, J.: Über das Verhalten der Lösungen der Maxwellschen Randwertaufgabe in einigen nichtglatten Gebieten. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Ser. A I Math. 6(1), 15–28 (1981)
- 29. Saranen, J.: On an inequality of Friedrichs. Math. Scand. 51(2), 310-322 (1982)
- Weber, C.: A local compactness theorem for Maxwell's equations. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 2, 12–25 (1980)
- Weck, N.: Maxwell's boundary value problems on Riemannian manifolds with nonsmooth boundaries.
 J. Math. Anal. Appl. 46, 410–437 (1974)
- Witsch, K.-J.: A remark on a compactness result in electromagnetic theory. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 16, 123–129 (1993)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

